Claremont Colleges Scholarship @ Claremont

**CGU Theses & Dissertations** 

CGU Student Scholarship

Spring 2021

# Prevalence and Predictors of Unintended Births in Low and Middle-Income Countries: A Pooled Analysis of 27 Nationally Representative Surveys

Daniel Woytowich Claremont Graduate University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarship.claremont.edu/cgu\_etd

## **Recommended Citation**

Woytowich, Daniel. (2021). *Prevalence and Predictors of Unintended Births in Low and Middle-Income Countries: A Pooled Analysis of 27 Nationally Representative Surveys*. CGU Theses & Dissertations, 312. https://scholarship.claremont.edu/cgu\_etd/312.

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the CGU Student Scholarship at Scholarship @ Claremont. It has been accepted for inclusion in CGU Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholarship @ Claremont. For more information, please contact scholarship@cuc.claremont.edu.

Prevalence and Predictors of Unintended Births in Low and Middle-Income Countries: A Pooled Analysis of 27 Nationally Representative Surveys

By

Daniel Woytowich

Claremont Graduate University

© Copyright Daniel Woytowich, 2021.

All rights reserved

# **Approval of the Dissertation Committee**

This dissertation has been duly read, reviewed, and critiqued by the Committee listed below, which hereby approves the manuscript of Daniel Woytowich as fulfilling the scope and quality requirements for meriting the degree of Doctor of Public Health.

> Paula Palmer, Co-Chair Claremont Graduate University Associate Professor of Community and Global Health

Bin Xie, Co-Chair Claremont Graduate University Professor of Community and Global Health

> Jay Orr Claremont Graduate University Clinical Full Professor

# Abstract

# Prevalence and Predictors of Unintended Births in Low and Middle-Income Countries: A Pooled Analysis of 27 Nationally Representative Surveys

By

**Daniel Woytowich** 

# Claremont Graduate University: 2021

# Introduction

Rates of unintended births (UIBs) are disproportionately high in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) where the capacity to provide care to unexpected mothers and their offspring is often lagging. To decrease the prevalence of UIBs and their negative impacts on children, women, families, communities, and health systems of developing nations, global health stakeholders must understand the characteristics of a woman's life in these regions that increase her risk for UIBs. This project identified and analyzed predictors of UIBs in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) and South-East Asia among all women of reproductive age. It built on findings from previous studies while also testing novel determinants in predictive models. The overall goal was to add to the conceptual understanding of sociodemographic, interpersonal, and family dynamic situations that predispose a woman to UIBs while factoring out overly specific regional influences. This can guide future research and inform public health practice in regions where comprehensive and context-specific studies on UIBs have not yet been done.

#### Methods

Nationally representative Demographic and Health Survey datasets from 27 LMICs across Africa and South-East Asia were appended. Weighted prevalence and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated while a Rao-Scott design-adjusted Chi-square test with second-order correction estimated bivariate associations between predictors and UIBs. Multivariate logistic regression models were used to predict odds of UIBs across three blocks of predictor variables. The first block produced unadjusted odds ratios by treating country of residence as the only predictor. The second block added sociodemographic and sexual and reproductive health (SRH) variables, while the third added variables about the woman's partner, family power dynamics, and intimate partner violence. The regression analyses produced adjusted odds ratios (AORs), accompanying 95% CIs, and p-values for each predictor.

## Results

The final sample (n=380,577) had an UIB prevalence of 19.4% (CI = 19.2 – 19.6). Model 3 showed the highest odds of UIBs among women from Lesotho (AOR = 11.13, CI = 8.54 – 14.51), as compared to all other countries; Africa (AOR = 2.62, CI = 2.09 - 3.29) as opposed to South-East Asia; and fragile regions (AOR = 1.44, CI = 1.30 - 1.59) compared to non-fragile regions. Also with the highest odds of UIBs were women aged 15-20 years (AOR = 1.65, CI = 1.40 - 1.94); women who were never married (AOR = 1.82, CI = 1.61 - 2.05), compared to those currently and formerly married; those with a primary education (AOR = 1.59, CI = 1.18 - 2.16); women with a parity of nine or more (AOR = 5.54, CI = 4.37 - 7.03), compared to women with parities of  $\leq 2$ , 3-4, and 5-8; women who knew a modern method of family planning (FP) (AOR = 1.45, CI = 1.19 - 1.77) as opposed to those who did not; women whose partner completed secondary school (AOR = 1.36, CI = 1.20 - 1.55); women who have their healthcare decisions made by another family member (ref) as opposed to women that make their own healthcare choices (AOR = 0.91, CI = 0.83 - 0.99); and women who have ever had sex forced on them by a partner (AOR = 1.48, CI = 1.36 - 1.60) versus those who had not.

#### Conclusions

Although not statistically significant, relatively low odds of UIBs were observed in women with low SES, no education, without knowledge of modern contraceptives, and whose partners had no education. These findings may indicate that decreased levels of empowerment lead to a lack of FP or women feeling unable to classify births as unintended. Governments and donors associated with Lesotho, Malawi, Namibia, and South Africa are encouraged to increase efforts towards FP outreach and the prevention of UIBs. Stakeholders must pay special attention to UIBs in fragile settings and SSA since these regions had significantly higher odds of UIBs compared to nonfragile regions and South-East Asia, respectively. Women 20 years of age and younger; women not currently married; women married at age nine or younger; women with high parity; women who have their healthcare choices made for them by a family member; and women who had sex forced on them are at significantly higher risk of UIBs. Therefore, SRH practitioners are urged to focus FP programming on these subgroups of women when comprehensive and context-specific studies from which they can inform their practice are not available. Lastly, since several of the sociodemographic and SRH associations with UIBs observed in Model 2 lost statistical significance after adding partner and interpersonal covariates in Model 3, it is important for researchers and survey implementers to take indicators reflective of family dynamics into account in subsequent analyses on UIBs.

# **Table of Contents**

1. Introduction	1
2. Literature Review	4
2.1 Overview	
2.2 Historical	5
2.3 Current	9
2.3.1 Orientation	9
2.3.2 South-East Asia	11
2.3.3 Africa	12
2.3.4 Summary/Synthesis of Variables	14
2.3.4.1 Age	14
2.3.4.2 Education Level	15
2.3.4.3 SES	15
2.3.4.4 Parity	15
2.3.4.5 Age at first marriage	16
2.3.4.6 Religion	
2.3.4.7 Marital Status	16
2.3.4.8 Previous negative pregnancy outcomes	17
2.3.4.9 Contraception	17
2.3.4.10 Urban/Rural Status	
2.3.4.11 Employment/Occupation	
2.3.4.12 Aspects Related to Partner	
2.4 Multi-Country	
2.5 Lead-in to Methods Section	20
2.5.1 Conclusion of Literature Review	20
2.5.2 Summary of Main Objectives	21

3. Me	thods	21
3.1	Data Source	.21
3.2	Dependent Variable	.23
3.3	Independent Variables	.23
3.4	Data Manipulation and Analysis	26
4. Res	ults	27
5. Dis	cussion	.43
6. Cor	nclusion	.49
Refere	ences	.51

# 1. Introduction

An unintended birth (UIB) results from a pregnancy that was either not wanted at all or wanted at a later point in time [1]. Unintended pregnancies (UIPs) are usually the direct result of the incorrect use, inconsistent use, or nonuse of modern methods of contraception [2,3]. In 2019, there were an estimated 121 million UIPs worldwide in women aged 15 – 49 years [4]. A global analysis in 2014 found that 44% of pregnancies and 23% of live births were unintended [5]. In addition to UIBs, UIPs can result in abortion, miscarriage, or stillbirth [6-8]. In 2012, roughly half of UIPs resulted in abortion, 13% resulted in miscarriage, and 38% in UIBs [7]. In 2014, 55% of UIPs in developing nations ended in abortion [5]. The hidden detail of these abortion statistics is that many are clandestine and/or unsafe, especially in countries where they are illegal, looked down upon because of religious or cultural norms, or access to high quality abortion services is poor. In countries where abortions were illegal or only allowed to save a woman's life, the proportion of UIPs ending in abortion was still 48% in 2014 [5], which indicates how common illegal abortion procedures are.

Even when UIPs result in a live birth, they still carry significant risks for both mother and child. UIBs result in higher rates of preterm babies [9,10], low birth weight (LBW) babies [9,10,12], and perinatal morbidity and mortality [9,12]. Another risk is vertically transmitted infections, such as HIV [13,14]. A study in South Africa found that HIV+ women who were not on antiretroviral therapy had higher odds of experiencing an UIP than HIV- women [13]. Women experiencing UIPs have demonstrated lower rates of accessing prenatal services [11,12,15,16], initiating routine care like childhood immunizations [3,10,17,18], breastfeeding [12], and were themselves prone to poor physical health [19,20], depression [19,20], and

substance abuse [11]. UIBs are associated with higher rates of physical and psychological mistreatment of the child by the father and mother, respectively [11].

The magnitude of the global prevalence of unintended pregnancies and births (UIP/Bs) and their associated negative sequelae necessitate the global health community working to reduce them. Between 1994 and 2014, the global rate of UIPs decreased from 74 to 62 per 1000 in women aged 15-44 years, representing a decline of 17% [5]. Unfortunately, this progress was not equitable between developing and developed nations. Between 1994 and 2014, the UIP rate fell by 30% in developed nations versus only 16% in developing nations [5]. In addition to the lagging progress in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), the repercussions of UIPs are more severe in LMICs where health system infrastructure and the capacity to provide care to unexpected mothers and their babies are generally poor [21-23]. Regions with substandard availability of family planning (FP) and early-life services usually also limit or prohibit access to safe, legal abortions [6]. All of this results in a cycle that perpetuates high rates of UIPs followed by unsafe abortions or other unfavorable outcomes like miscarriages [6]. However, even when UIP/Bs result in a healthy birth, they can disrupt families, take away from a woman's ability to be in the workforce or further her education, perpetuate power differentials between men and women, increase a woman's chances of experiencing intimate partner violence (IPV), and put the child at risk both during the newborn stage and beyond. They are a drain on already stressed LMIC health systems and contribute to delayed progress toward better societal reproductive health, women's health, and early-life health for the offspring [5,21]. UIP/Bs have therefore been recognized as both a result and catalyst of social, economic, and gender inequality [21-23].

UIP/Bs can only be effectively prevented if the public health community comprehensively understands what factors predispose a woman to them. Unfortunately, the research base is still in

its infancy regarding this issue. A large number of studies have produced actionable data on UIP/B predictors that can be put into practice in very specific populations. However, they have limited generalizability because they are regional [12, 24-36] or single country-level [37-44] in focus, and often include only targeted subgroups of women [12, 25, 26, 32-34, 37, 38, 40, 41, 43, 44]. Further, most only consider a limited number of determinants in their predictive models either because of data unavailability or having a research question that limited the scope of the analysis. Only two studies were identified, one published in 2019 by Ameyaw et al. [45] and another in 2021 by Sarder et al. [46], that investigated predictors of UIBs on a multi-country scale. Sarder and associates pooled Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) [47] from six South Asian countries [46], while Ameyaw et al. [45] pooled DHS data from 29 sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) countries. These works took an important first step in creating a research base on determinants of UIBs that is broad and generalizable, rather than regional and limited in scope. Multi-country studies that focus on a variety of subgroups of women and possible determinants of UIBs are necessary to clarify the broad sociodemographic, sexual and reproductive health (SRH), and interpersonal predictors of UIBs that can be addressed by governments, donors, practitioners, and other stakeholders.

Therefore, this project used DHS datasets to build on the multi-country research base that the two aforementioned studies [45,46] began. It pooled the most recent DHS data on 27 countries from Africa and South-East Asia and took into account novel sociodemographic, interpersonal, and family dynamic variables indicated to be important by regional studies that were not included in Ameyaw et al.'s [45] or Sarder et al.'s [46] analyses. Therefore, predictors of UIBs considered in this analysis were informed by those previous multi-country findings [45,46], the results from a literature review of regional studies, the availability of variables of

interest in DHS country datasets, and biological and epidemiological plausibility. DHS data is ideal for this research as it specializes in reproductive, maternal, newborn, and child health (RMNCH) in LMICs and is nationally representative, standardized across samples, and reproduced roughly every five years which makes longitudinal follow-up possible [48-53]. Since Ameyaw et al. [45] and Sarder et al. [46] used DHS data, this study's results are comparable to theirs. This could clarify associations they observed, unveil novel associations important to consider (e.g., fragility status of a country, health insurance coverage, household power dynamics, aspects of the woman's partner, etc.), and elucidate which determinants of UIBs are the most universal across African and South-East Asian populations. The goal is to produce a generalizable list of predictors of UIBs that can add to the conceptual understanding of sociodemographic and familial situations that typically lead to higher chances of UIBs. This can provide future research directions and also guide reproductive health programming in regions where comprehensive and context-specific studies on UIBs have not yet been done.

# 2. Literature Review

# 2.1 Overview

As part of the novelty of this project stems from the fact that it is multi-country in nature, it most directly built off the aforementioned SSA [45] and South-Asian [46] multi-country studies. However, years of smaller scale, regional, and more targeted studies laid the groundwork for what was done in those works. That research background was explored in this literature review, which is divided into three sequential sections entitled: 'historical', 'current', and 'multicountry'.

In the 'historical' section, key findings and perspectives from studies that largely took place from the early 1980's until the mid-1990's were reviewed. This is not to indicate that research on UIP/Bs did not exist prior to 1980. However, while conducting this review, it was ascertained that most of the work that could realistically be seen to influence a research project of this kind began to burgeon in the early 1980's. Most studies in the 'historical' section were based in the United States.

The 'current' section contains information regarding how the topic is still being studied today and as it will be studied in this project. It details studies that mostly took part after the year 2000, have looked at UIP/Bs as a consequence of social determinants of health, and whose target sample resided in LMICs. There are several necessary subheadings in the 'current' section.

The 'multi-country' section describes findings from the multi-country studies [45,46] that most directly informed this analysis.

# 2.2 Historical

Much of the early literature on UIP/Bs was with respect to the prevention of adolescent pregnancies [54-59]. Other works investigated rape and abuse as causes of unwanted pregnancies [55,60,61]; or were interventional and focused on contraceptive use and sex education as methods of preventing unwanted pregnancies [62-69]. Most of these projects focused on teens as well. In addition to societal desires to limit adolescent childbearing, UIPs were also gaining

attention because researchers were beginning to make clear the negative repercussions of UIP/Bs. Various works in the 1980's and early 1990's indicated, in addition to abortions and their psychological consequences on families, that child maltreatment, vertical HIV/sexually transmitted infection (STI) transmission, LBW babies, preterm babies, and neonatal deaths were associated with UIP/Bs [62, 64, 65, 68, 70-73].

In her 1987 study of 518 urban, single parents receiving public assistance in the United States [62], Zuravin found that unplanned conceptions were not only due to nonuse of contraceptives, but also commonly their incorrect and inconsistent use as well [62]. This reiterated the need for not only expanding the provision of contraceptives, but also disseminating information about their proper use. She also found that unplanned conceptions increased the chances that the offspring would be abused and/or neglected [62]. Edelman in 1988 [58] indicated that adolescent pregnancies were in part a result of adolescents feeling they had no choices in life and, therefore, had nothing to lose by starting a family [58]. They were effectively disincentivized to prevent pregnancies because of not seeing any payoff from delaying them [58]. Edelman therefore suggested that schools could play a part in decreasing UIPs by increasing job and trade skill training for disadvantaged students to increase self-efficacy toward workplace opportunities, thereby providing them with a reason to delay pregnancies [58]. Jones et al. in 1988 [63] investigated a population with a larger age range and demonstrated that UIPs in women of all ages decrease when health systems serving them work to provide contraceptive information and to decrease structural barriers to obtaining contraception [63]. Jones et al. [63] and Westoff [64] spoke of how widespread contraceptive use could be an effective method of decreasing abortions, especially in Western societies where women were more likely to seek out abortions for unwanted pregnancies rather than carry them to term [63,64].

The early 1980's also produced important material on the consequences, including UIPs, of rape and abuse within marriages [74-76]. This was an especially controversial topic during the era of lawful marital rape exemptions [77]. Within a sample of women at domestic violence shelters in Michigan in 1989, Campbell and Alford [60] found that of the women who had been forcibly raped by their husbands, 20.4% reported a miscarriage or stillbirth and 17.4% reported an unwanted birth as a direct result of the rape event [60]. Similar studies [55, 74-77] were not only important steps in shining light on the problem of intramarital rape, but also for clarifying and bringing attention to the important link between sexual abuse and UIP/Bs.

As illustrated by the previous examples, most research in the 1980's focused on determinants of UIPs that were causal and, therefore, downstream in nature, like contraception nonuse and rape events. However, some studies in the early 1990's began to move the field forward by focusing on more upstream factors reflective of the social determinants of health. For example, Casper in 1990 [56] found that positive family interaction with an adolescent at crucial stages of their decision-making development could be effective in reducing adolescent pregnancy rates [56]. McCullough and Scherman in 1991 [59] also reinforced how varying types of social support were important in encouraging adolescent family planning [59]. In one of the larger studies (n=12,272) that had taken place up until this point, the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention in 1991 [65] verified many of the findings from smaller studies [56, 58, 59, 62-64] when they outlined factors that simultaneously predispose adolescents to HIV infection and UIPs. These included incorrect and inconsistent use of condoms and other forms of contraception, having more than one sexual partner at a time, and initiating and engaging in sex at an early age, in particular prior to the age of 15 [65]. An intervention in 1992 by Barth et al. [54] sought to intervene with unwanted teen pregnancies by teaching adolescents reproductive

health and contraception knowledge and practices, and by communicating with their parents about pregnancy prevention. While the program had success with increasing the prevalence of respondents that used birth control, it did not affect post-intervention frequency of sexual intercourse or unplanned pregnancies [54]. This was important in confirming that while education and self-efficacy concerning reproductive health were important, there were other factors at play with unintended teen pregnancies.

Boyer et al. in 1992 [55] again highlighted the strong associations between adolescent sexual victimization, willingness to use contraception, and age at first sexual intercourse with future UIBs and mistreatment of the subsequent offspring. In 1994, Bustan and Coker [73] did a novel study where they linked a woman's negative attitude toward her pregnancy (i.e., did not want the child, wanted the child later) with an increased risk of neonatal death [73]. Also in 1994, Forrest [66] conducted a country-wide study in the United States on UIPs and showed that not only adolescents, but also formerly married women and women of low SES demonstrated higher odds of not using contraception and reporting contraceptive failure, which led to higher rates of UIPs in these subgroups [66]. This study was valuable not only because it was large scale and confirmed findings from regional studies, but it also showed the necessity of considering other sociodemographic subgroups beyond adolescents in analyses of UIP risk [66]. In 1994, Herold et al. [67] observed that for a group of 15-25 year old women in Santiago, Chile, having less sex education prior to first sexual intercourse, moral ambivalence about premarital sex, and being Catholic increased the likelihood of UIPs [67]. Along with the expansion of predictors of UIPs considered, the mid-1990's saw an increase in the study of the negative psychological and social outcomes associated with UIP/Bs. These included lower earning

potential and long-term psychological morbidity for the mother, increased costs for health systems, and suboptimal child development [57, 61, 68, 69, 72].

# 2.3 Current

#### 2.3.1 Orientation

Over the past 20 years, a greater recognition that UIP/Bs are important issues for all women, not just adolescents, has been reflected in a larger research output regarding UIP/Bs in a variety of ages, social subgroups, and locales. Also, the realization that social determinants of health and other upstream factors (i.e., issues beyond proximal causes like contraception nonuse and rape) likely play a significant role in UIP/Bs has become commonplace. Of particular importance is that a wider range of studies investigating determinants of UIP/Bs in LMICs is now available.

A review of the contemporary literature is provided in this section and delineated as follows. First, key findings from regional (local and country-level) studies are presented according to the WHO region in which they took place. The 'South-East Asian' and 'African' regions were explored since these are the regions covered in this study and in the previous multicountry studies [45,46]. Finally, a 'summary/synthesis' section presents findings broken down by key independent variables irrespective of which of the aforementioned regions the original studies came from. In some cases, findings from regions other than SSA and South-East Asia may be included in the 'summary/synthesis' section if particularly relevant.

Projects were mostly secondary, cross-sectional analyses that used DHS datasets and therefore classified UIBs according to DHS criterion [37-44]. One secondary analysis used an

African Population and Health Research Centre dataset [30]. Primary analyses were done with the systematic sampling of recent mothers and by using questionnaires modeled after the DHS [26] and the London Measure of Unplanned Pregnancy [28,29], while others created their own surveys [12, 24, 25, 27, 31-36]. Three studies were case-controls [25,31,39]. A variety of statistical analyses were used including multivariate logistic regression to produce adjusted odds ratios (AORs) with reported birth intention separated into a binary outcome variable [12, 24-28, 30-38, 40, 41, 43, 44], conditional logistic regression [39], logistic regression with crude odds ratios (ORs) [31], multilevel logistic regression to account for clustering [42], and multiple linear regression informed by a conceptual hierarchical model [29]. Some studies also differentiated between mistimed and unwanted pregnancies as outcome variables [12,39,40,44].

Studies either sampled women aged 15-49 years who had given birth within the last 3-5 years of the survey being carried out, as this is standard DHS protocol for ascertaining pregnancy intention; or sampled currently pregnant women or women who had recently given birth, irrespective of age. Many studies however only investigated specific subgroups such as ever-married women [12, 25, 26, 32, 40, 44], ever-married rural women [41], currently pregnant and married women [20,38], married 15-25 year old women [37], HIV-infected women [33], and women attending STI clinics [34].

Most common explanatory variables included in the study models were age [12, 24, 27, 31, 33, 36, 39, 42, 44, 78], education level [12, 25-30, 32, 33, 36, 37, 39-42, 79], literacy [28, 38, 39, 43], marital status [24, 30, 31, 33, 34, 36, 42], husband's education [12, 35, 37, 39], husband's literacy [39, 43], husband's age [12, 29], woman's age at first marriage [25, 28, 38, 40, 41, 43], parity/gravidity [24-26, 28, 30, 33, 36, 40, 44], religion (Christianity [36, 44], Islam [36, 39, 41, 43, 44], Hindu [38, 39]), SES [12, 28-31, 33, 36, 37, 39-41, 43, 44], employment/occupation [12, 35, 37]

24-26, 30-33, 36-38, 40, 44], occupation of partner [12, 31], aspects of contraception knowledge or use [26, 28, 33, 35-44], urban/rural status [12, 24, 28, 31, 35-40, 42-44], intimate partner violence [29, 34, 37, 44], previous child loss [32, 39], and previous terminated pregnancy [27, 28, 32, 44].

# 2.3.2 South-East Asia

A study using DHS data in Bangladesh in 2004 found that 10,544 ever-married Bangladeshi women between the ages of 10-49 who were low- and middle-income (LMI) exhibited higher odds of having a mistimed pregnancy compared to high-income women [40]. In addition, women with a secondary education had higher odds of unwanted and mistimed births than women with no education [40], which contradicts most other studies that found the largest association with UIBs among those with no education. Another study [41] on 10,996 evermarried rural Bangladeshi women using 2007 DHS data found that Islamic women as opposed to non-Islamic women, and women who had four or more previous births as opposed to women with three or less, demonstrated higher odds of having an UIB [41]. Contrary to findings from most other studies, this study [41] found that women between the ages of 20-29 years had a higher probability of unplanned births than women between the ages of 15-19 [41]. Rahman [43] interviewed 718 currently pregnant women in Bangladesh that were extracted from the 2007 DHS and showed that urban women, Muslim women, and women with no media access had higher odds of UIBs [43]. With 2001 DHS data collected from 751 married, currently pregnant women in Nepal, Adhikari et al. [38] found that Hindu women and women with radio access had significantly lower odds of UIBs than non-Hindus and women with no radio access, respectively. Their other findings generally are reflective of other Southeast Asian findings [40,41,43]. Results from analyses using 2016 DHS data collected among 560 15-24 year old married women living

in Nepal showed that women who had ever suffered sexual violence from their partner had significantly higher odds of experiencing an UIB than those who had no experience with sexual violence [37]. A secondary analysis in India using the 2006 National Family Health Survey found that women (n=36,832) who were of the poorest wealth quintile and illiterate had higher odds of UIBs [39]. They were also more likely to report their previous birth as unintended if the child was female [39]. Lastly, women who had ever used contraception versus those who never used contraception had higher odds of reporting an UIB [39].

## 2.3.3 Africa

In a survey with a case-referent design [31] conducted in Harare, Zimbabwe in 1997 among 923 recent mothers, higher odds of UIBs were observed among women under 19 or over 35 years, were nulliparous or who had more than five previous pregnancies, were unemployed, single, and/or low-income [31]. There was no association between level of education and odds of UIB [31]. Despite the fact that this study was limited with respect to sample size and geographic scope, it was one of the earliest studies that looked at a larger variety of sociodemographic factors as potential predictors of UIBs in an African country [31]. An analysis with 1993 Kenya DHS data [42] on 5914 births revealed a significant association between level of education and UIBs, although it was not monotonic since women with a primary education showed the highest odds of having mistimed and unwanted births, whereas women with no education and secondary or above education had the lowest [42]. Magadi [42] observed that women living in rural areas, single women, and those who have given birth to more than five children showed higher chances of having an UIB [42]. Magadi [42] differentiated between mistimed and unwanted births, and found that women over the age of 35 had lower levels of mistimed births, but higher levels of unwanted births; while women under the age of 20 had higher odds of reporting mistimed births,

but lower odds of unwanted births compared to women aged 35 years or older [42]. Another report from Kenya [30] with data collected from 1272 women in 2009 by the African Population and Health Research Centre revealed that women living in non-slum settlements were more likely to experience UIPs than women living in slum settlements [30]. Women aged 35-49 years had lower odds of UIPs than women aged 15-19 years [30], which is in contrast to other studies that in general found that women under the age of 20 and women over 35 had similar rates of UIPs when the differentiation between mistimed and unwanted pregnancies was not made. Hall et al. in 2016 [29] studied 4244 pregnant women in Mchinji, Malawi and used a conceptual hierarchical model to show that lower SES was associated with greater probability of having an UIP, but that its effect in part was mediated by sociodemographic factors like marital status, age of the woman's partner, and the woman's education level. This study was limited in geographic scope but novel since it found that in addition to young age, depression and abuse were associated with UIPs [29].

In a large Nigerian survey by Yaya et al. [44] that pooled 2003, 2008, and 2013 DHS data resulting in a sample size of 79,825 married women, researchers found that women with higher education had higher odds of UIBs as opposed to those with no education. Also, they found that women with a higher wealth index were more likely to have UIBs than were lower wealth index women [44]. Lastly, Yaya et al. [44] demonstrated that women with a past terminated pregnancy were more likely to have an UIB in the future than were women with no history of terminated pregnancy.

In a survey [24] interviewing 674 women in Northwestern, Ethiopia in 2018, women living away from their husbands and women with no media exposure in the home had significantly higher odds of UIP [24]. There were no significant associations between age,

urban/rural status, occupation, education, or marital status with UIPs [24]. A 2019 study of 398 women from Northwestern Ethiopia [36] found that women who were rural residents, and Orthodox Christians as opposed to Muslims, had higher odds of UIBs [36]. Women with secondary educations had the lowest odds of UIBs [36]. In one of the few investigations that analyzed aspects of the husband exclusively as predictors of UIBs in Southern Ethiopia, Seifu et al. [35] examined 627 married women and found that those who had husbands with university-level education showed significantly lower odds of experiencing an UIB compared to those whose husbands had no education. However, the university group was not statistically different from women whose husbands had primary or secondary education [35].

#### 2.3.4 Summary/Synthesis of Variables

#### 2.3.4.1 Age

Many of the regional and country-level studies found that a woman's age is a strong predictor of UIBs. Some of these studies found that older women (roughly 30 years and up) had higher odds of reporting UIBs than younger women (roughly  $\leq 20$  years). Two such studies took place in Egypt [12,80], two were in Bangladesh [40,41], two were in Nigeria [81,82], and one was in Vietnam [83]. More commonly however, studies showed that younger women had higher odds of experiencing UIBs. Some examples include studies that took place in Nigeria [44], the United States [84], Spain [27], Ethiopia [85], Senegal [86], Kenya [30], Spain [27], and Pakistan [28]. In several investigations age had no effect on odds of reporting births as unintended [24, 25, 33, 36, 87]. Discrepancies in the literature about the effect of age on UIBs seem in part to be due to the difference between mistimed and unwanted pregnancies. Women under the age of twenty, if given the opportunity to make the distinction between a mistimed and unwanted pregnancy, are more prone to saying a pregnancy was mistimed due to their presumed

acknowledgement that at some point they would like to have a child [42]. Older women, generally over 30 or 35 years, are more willing to classify a child as unwanted, due to having the child at a point in their life when they were sure they did not want any more [42]. It is plausible that this effect was at play when several studies [31, 42, 43, 81, 83] that did not distinguish between mistimed and unwanted pregnancies found that women under 20 and over 35 had roughly equivalent odds of having UIPs.

#### 2.3.4.2 Education level

Results regarding the effect of education on odds of UIBs were highly mixed. Many studies showed that women with no education had the highest odds of UIB [27, 29, 39, 85]. Some surveys however contradicted this by demonstrating that higher education women had higher odds of UIB [37, 40, 44, 81, 87, 88]. There were also several studies that showed no association between level of education and UIB [24-26, 30, 31, 33, 38, 82, 89]. Results from investigations in Uganda [90], Kenya [42], Ethiopia [36], and Pakistan [28] showed statistically significant associations between education and UIB, however they were non-monotonic.

#### 2.3.4.3 SES

Most studies indicate that lower SES predisposes a woman to higher odds of UIB [12, 31, 39, 41, 91-93]. This was not always the case however as some studies presented exactly the opposite findings [44, 94], no association [30, 33, 36], or significant but non-monotonic results [28, 40, 43].

# 2.3.4.4 Parity

Generally, odds of future UIBs were seen to increase as the past parity of the woman increased [12, 25, 28, 33, 38, 40, 42, 44, 95]. The association with parity and UIB was

sometimes in a sense bimodal, with nulliparous women and women who had roughly five or more pregnancies having the highest odds of UIBs, while women with roughly two to four births had lower odds [31].

## 2.3.4.5 Age at first marriage

Most studies that included age at first marriage in their models found that the older a woman was when she first got married, the less odds she had of reporting an UIB later [38, 40, 96, 97]. One investigation found no association between age at first marriage and UIB [25].

## 2.3.4.6 Religion

Results concerning the effect of religious membership on UIBs were mixed or simply incomplete because they only compared one religion to all others (i.e., Muslim versus non-Muslim), rather than comparing many religions (i.e., Muslim, Christian, Hindu, etc.) in the same analysis. Of course, this is to be expected in regional studies where generally one religion would predominate. Some studies showed that Muslims had higher odds of UIBs [39, 41, 43, 90, 98], while others showed Christians did [44, 85, 94]. One specifically showed that Orthodox Christians had higher odds of UIBs as opposed to Muslims [36]. Another showed that Hindus compared to all non-Hindus had lower odds of UIBs [38].

# 2.3.4.7 Marital status

The majority of studies that investigated this variable showed that married women had lower odds of UIBs compared to single women [27, 29-31, 33, 42, 44, 85, 94, 98]. A study in Ethiopia showed no significant association between marital status and UIB [24]. Another showed that married women were more likely to experience UIBs, however this was only among women attending an STI clinic [34].

#### 2.3.4.8 Previous negative pregnancy outcomes

Several investigations reported that women who previously had an abortion demonstrated higher odds of having a future UIB [99-101]. A study in 2016 in Ethiopia [102] found that previous stillbirths were associated with increased future odds of UIB. In Nigeria, history of terminated pregnancy was associated with future UIBs as well [44]. In a study in Pakistan, previous abortions and miscarriages were not associated with future odds of UIBs [28].

#### 2.3.4.9 Contraception

Contraception use is not a focal point of this analysis since it is a downstream determinant of UIP/Bs. Moreover, the research base regarding contraception use and knowledge is wellestablished with respect to their role in preventing UIP/Bs. However, for the sake of completion, a few basic findings from regional studies that included contraceptive use and knowledge in their models are described here.

Women with knowledge of family planning have lower odds of UIPs [28,38]. In general, women who reported ever having used a modern method of contraception or were using modern contraception at the time of their last conception had higher odds of reporting that pregnancy to be unwanted [34,35, 39-44]. At first glance this finding may seem paradoxical, but if a woman is consciously using contraception it would effectively mean any pregnancy would be unintended. Some surveys found no association between use/ever use of contraceptives and UIP [33, 36-38].

# 2.3.4.10 Urban/Rural Status

There were discrepancies about whether urban or rural women were more likely to have UIBs. In some studies rural women were [28, 36, 38, 40, 42, 90], in others urban women were [39,43]. Some found no association between urban/rural status and odds of UIB [44, 80, 85].

#### 2.3.4.11 Employment/Occupation

Unemployed women had higher odds of UIBs in studies in Zimbabwe, Nigeria, and Iran [25, 31, 44]. On the other hand, employment had no significant association in other studies [26, 30, 33, 36]. Employment and occupation variables were limited with respect to generalizability much in the same way that religion was. In most studies, only a small list of occupations was analyzed due presumably to limitations in data availability. Some studies only investigated employment versus non-employment and, therefore, did not yield any data on types of professions that may predispose a woman to higher odds of UIBs.

#### 2.3.4.12 Aspects related to partner

There is limited data on this class of variables as most studies did not account for characteristics of the husband/partner. One survey found that women whose partner had no income had higher odds of UIBs [31]. Women experiencing domestic violence in Nigeria demonstrated higher odds of UIBs [44]. Women whose husbands had a university education as opposed to no education had lower odds of UIBs [35]. Having a younger husband was associated with higher odds of UIB in a study in Egypt [12].

# 2.4 Multi-Country

The literature review revealed only two studies that conducted multi-country, pooled analyses of nationally representative data that included all women of reproductive age and marital statuses [45,46]. One that was published in 2019 by Ameyaw et al. [45] used DHS

surveys to pool data from 29 SSA countries. The other was published in 2021 by Sarder et al. [46] and used DHS surveys to pool data from six South-Asian countries [46].

In a finding contradictory to most of the regional-level studies, Ameyaw et al.'s [45] SSA study found 15–19 year old women to have lower odds of UIBs compared to all other age groups (20-24, 25-29, 30-34, 35-39, 40-44, and 45-49 year old women) [45]. In a finding consistent with previous studies, women between the ages of 30-39 years had high odds of UIBs [45]. Ameyaw et al. [45] also found that married/cohabitating, widowed, and divorced women all had significantly higher odds of UIBs compared to single women, which is another contradictory finding to many of the regional studies [45]. There was no statistical difference between urban and rural women [45]. Women with no education had the highest odds of UIBs compared to primary school, secondary school, and higher, which is consistent with most findings [45]. Women from the poorest wealth index quintile had higher odds of UIBs compared to the poorer, middle, richer, and richest groups [45]. Women with zero previous births were more likely to have a future UIB, whereas women with the highest parity analyzed (>4 previous births) had the lowest odds of a subsequent UIB [45]. Islamic women had higher odds of UIBs compared to Christian women [45], but the difference in odds between Islamic women and women of "traditionalist" religions or no reported religious affiliation was not statistically significant. Lastly, women who knew of a modern method of contraception had the lowest odds of UIB compared to women who only knew of a traditional method or no method at all [45].

Sarder et al.'s study [46] in South Asia found that 15-19 and 40-49 year old women had the highest odds of UIBs, which is reflective of some regional studies that showed "younger" and "older" women had the highest odds of UIBs [46]. However, Sarder et al. [46] found that women of all age groups between 20 and 39 years had the lowest odds of UIBs, whereas regional studies

started to find that once women were over 30, their odds of UIBs started to increase. Rural women had higher odds of UIBs than urban women and education level had no association [46]. Women from the 'poorest' and 'poorer' wealth quintiles had the highest odds of UIB compared to the highest three wealth quintiles [46]. Islam and Hindu religions had the highest odds of UIBs compared to all others [46]. Women with a parity of zero had the lowest odds of UIBs compared to women with higher parity, in particular those with over three previous children [46]. Lastly, women who first married/cohabitated prior to turning 20 years of age had lower odds of UIBs compared to those who first cohabitated after they turned 20 years [46]. This finding contradicts most regional studies.

# 2.5 Lead-in to Methods Section

#### 2.5.1 Conclusion of literature review

The findings presented from regional studies were highly variable and mixed from region to region and country to country, and cutoff points used for categorical variables were inconsistent across studies. Multi-country analyses like Ameyaw et al. [45] and Sarder et al. [46] are a logical first step in better elucidating determinants of UIBs that are more constant and generalizable throughout understudied LMIC regions. This study built from these two studies by including more countries in an analysis that spanned two WHO regions. Also included were other variables that the literature review of regional studies indicated were important but were not included in either one or both of the aforementioned multi-country studies [45,46].

#### 2.5.2 Summary of Main Objectives

(i) Determine the prevalence of UIBs across all countries and sociodemographic subgroups included in the analysis;

(ii) Identify which associations between predictors and UIBs uncovered in the previous multicountry studies change, or remain consistent, after including more countries, new variables, and more accurate subgroup categories;

(iii) Determine if, and by how much, the new variables are associated with UIBs; and

(**iv**) Produce a generalizable and comprehensive list of variables that are predictive of higher odds of UIBs across different countries and WHO regions; which can serve as a framework to guide future analyses and policy recommendations.

# 3. Methods

# 3.1 Data Source

The Standard DHS women's survey [103] was used for this project, which interviews women 15-49 years of age in LMICs primarily on RMNCH topics [48,49]. They are conducted using a two-stage sampling design. In the first stage a sample frame consisting of primary sampling units (PSUs) from a population census is selected according to its population and stratification characteristics [48,49]. In the next stage field teams go to selected PSUs and create a listing of households from which systematic sampling is employed to select approximately 30 for in-depth interviews [48]. Trained interviewers from country-specific agencies then go to the households to identify eligible women for interviews, who are then interviewed after providing consent. DHS surveys use well established questionnaires and usually have response rates over 90% [48,49]. Surveys are implemented via a collaboration between ICF International [103], the United States Agency for International Development, and country-level partners like National Statistics Offices and/or Ministries of Health. Between 1984, when DHS began, and 2010, DHS datasets produced 1117 peer-reviewed publications appearing in over 200 journals [52]. Advantages of DHS are the high response rates, quality interviewer training, national representativeness, use of complex sampling to ensure representation of hard-to-reach populations, and the fact that the core DHS questionnaire has been standardized to maximize comparability and reproducibility [48,50,51,53]. DHS surveys have been used successfully in other recently published, multi-country studies on similar topics using analogous methodologies to the ones proposed for this project [45,46, 104-106]. The final dataset was produced by using the Integrated Public Use Microdata Series (IPUMS) [107,108] DHS data management tool. The IPUMS service allows one to append DHS data from several countries accurately by harmonizing variables across datasets in a web-based portal. This maximizes the final appended dataset's standardization and comparability across variables, countries, and DHS versions.

The analysis includes 27 LMICs from the African and South-East Asian WHO regions. The included countries and years that the DHS was carried out in them are: Angola (2015), Burundi (2016), Cameroon (2011), Democratic Republic of Congo (2013), Ethiopia (2016), Ghana (2014), Guinea (2018), Cote d'Ivoire (2011), Kenya (2014), Lesotho (2014), Liberia (2013), Malawi (2016), Mali (2018), Mozambique (2011), Namibia (2013), Niger (2012), Nigeria (2018), Rwanda (2014), Senegal (2017), South Africa (2016), Zimbabwe (2015),

Uganda (2016), Tanzania (2015), Zambia (2018), Myanmar (2015), India (2015), and Nepal (2016). The most recent survey for each country was used. Countries whose most recent surveys were conducted earlier than 2011 were excluded. Countries were included that had all variables of interest. DHS granted permission to use these datasets for the purposes of this analysis and the Claremont Graduate University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved the study.

# 3.2 Dependent Variable

The dependent variable is whether the woman's last birth was intended or not intended. If a woman's most recent birth was within 5 years of the survey, she was asked: "When you got pregnant with (NAME), did you want to get pregnant at that time?" If she responded "no", she was then asked: "Did you want to have a baby later on, or did you not want any(more) children?" The responses to these questions were captured in the DHS variable entitled 'FPLCHDESIRE' as three possible responses: 1) "Wanted last child then", 2) "Wanted last child later", and 3) "Wanted no more children". Responses of "wanted last child later" and "wanted no more children" were recoded as '1', meaning these were UIBs. "Wanted last child then" was recoded as '0', meaning it was an intended birth. This methodology was used to classify pregnancy intention in the aforementioned multi-country studies [45,46] and several regional studies [37-44].

## **3.3 Independent Variables**

Based on biological and epidemiological plausibility as determined from the literature review, the availability of variables, and desired novel analyses, 27 independent variables were analyzed. They include country of residence, WHO region (Africa, South-East Asia), fragility status (non-fragile, fragile), the respondent's age (15-20, 21-30, 31-40, 41-49 years), type of residence (urban, rural), health insurance coverage (yes, no), current marital status (never married, currently married, or formerly married), highest education level achieved by respondent (none, primary, secondary, higher), wealth index quintile (poorest, poorer, middle, richer, richest), occupation (not working, professional/clerical, agricultural, manual/household labor, armed forces), religion (Muslim, Catholic Christian, Orthodox Christian, Protestant Christian, Other Christian, Buddhist, Hindu, Sikh, Other, no religion), age when respondent first had sex (<11, 12-15, 16-19, 20-29, >30 years), lifetime number of sexual partners (one, 2-5, 6-10, >11), age when first married (<9, 10-15, 16-20, 21-30, >31 years), duration of current marriage (<9, 10-19,  $\geq$ 20 years), number of unions (one,  $\geq$ 2), respondent's parity ( $\leq$ 2, 3-4, 5-8,  $\geq$ 9), history of pregnancy termination (yes, no), FP awareness (respondent knows a modern method of FP, respondent does not know a modern method of FP), respondent knows a source of FP (yes, no), and does the respondent have knowledge of emergency contraception (yes, no). Variables about the woman's partner were included as well, such as the partner's age at reference birth (10-15, 16-20, 21-30, 31-40, 41-50,  $\geq$ 51 years), the partner's highest education level achieved (none, primary, secondary, higher), and the partner's occupation (not working, professional/clerical, agricultural, manual/household labor, armed forces). Lastly, variables reflective of empowerment and VAW were included, such as whether or not the respondent makes her own health care choices (yes, or another family member decides for her), whether the respondent believes that her being beaten is justified if she refuses sex (yes, no), and whether or not a partner has ever forced sex on her (yes, no).

Fragility status was included in the analysis since reproductive and maternal health has repeatedly been shown to be extremely poor in fragile and conflict-affected situations (FCS) where governance is poor or nonexistent, the environment is highly stressful, families may be separated, health infrastructure breaks down, and people may have to go through periods living in refugee or internally displaced people settlements [109-115]. Rape and violence against women may also accompany war, although this is not always observed to be the case [112-115]. For the purposes of this analysis, a country was denoted as fragile if it had appeared on the World Bank Group's (WBG) annual FCS list [116] within two years of the DHS survey being carried out in that country. The WBG bases fragility and conflict statuses on metrics like Country Policy and Institutional Assessment scores [117], presence of United Nations peacekeepers, number of refugees produced, and deaths resulting from conflict as calculated by the Armed Conflict Location and Event Data Project [118] and the Uppsala Conflict Data Program [119].

DHS calculates wealth index by principal component analysis (PCA) which places households on a continuous scale of relative wealth according to assets [49]. The household's wealth index is a composite measure of its cumulative living standard. The DHS household questionnaire has data on the possession of consumer items and dwelling characteristics like televisions, cars, flooring material, drinking water source, and type of toilet facility used. Each of these assets is then assigned a factor score generated through the PCA. Scores vary depending on whether or not an asset is owned, or by what type of facility (i.e., improved versus unimproved sanitation, or dirt versus carpeted floor) the household makes use of. Asset scores are then standardized in relation to a standard normal distribution (i.e., mean of zero and standard deviation of one) and used to create cutoff points to define five groups of wealth quintiles with equal numbers of individuals from the population in each [49].

## **3.4 Data Manipulation and Analysis**

Individual datasets from the 27 countries were appended. Women who did not give birth in the five years leading up to the survey, and therefore had no data concerning pregnancy intention were excluded, which gave an initial sample of 380,744. Missing responses (n=197) to the pregnancy intention question were excluded to yield the final valid sample of 380,577. Age and other continuous variables were recoded into categorical variables according to the cutoffs outlined in the 'Independent Variables' section. Descriptive analysis crosstabulations were conducted to yield weighted prevalence of UIBs with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for each variable subcategory. The design-adjusted CIs capture information on statistical significance of differences and precision of prevalence across variable subcategories. A Rao-Scott design-adjusted Chi-square test with second-order correction was employed for hypothesis testing on bivariate associations between variables and UIBs.

Next, three logistic regression models were conducted in which unintended/intended birth was the binary outcome. Variables that had statistically insignificant associations ( $p \ge 0.05$ ) in the Chi-square bivariate tests of independence were not entered into the logistic regression models. In Model 1, crude odds ratios (ORs) were calculated via bivariate logistic regression to produce baseline odds of UIBs for each country, without controlling for other independent variables. Design-adjusted 95% CIs were produced for Model 1 along with the overall p-value. In Model 2, variables capturing sociodemographic and SRH characteristics of the respondents were entered into a multivariate logistic regression to produce adjusted odds ratios (AORs), accompanying 95% CIs, and p-values. This general statistical methodology was informed by previous regional studies [12, 30, 33, 34, 36, 44, 86, 88, 90, 94, 98, 100] and the two multi-country studies [45,46]. However, Ameyaw et al. [45] and Sarder et al. [46] produced crude ORs based on country, and

then did one multivariate analysis where sociodemographic variables were added for their final model. Therefore, Model 2 in our analysis is reflective of the two multi-country studies' [45,46] final model. This project however added a third model which added variables about the woman's partner, whether she makes her own healthcare decisions or not, and her attitudes toward intimate partner violence (IPV) and past experiences with IPV. The reference category was intended births, meaning that a crude OR or AOR greater than one (1) indicates greater odds of the sub-group in question experiencing an UIB, whereas ORs less than one (1) indicate lower odds. Independent variables' associations with UIBs were considered statistically significant at the 95% level of significance (i.e., p<0.05). Primary sampling units, sample strata, and sample weights were accounted for in all analyses by applying sample weights and adjusting for the DHS cluster sampling techniques using the SPSS Version 26 Complex Samples Package [120] according to instructions in the Guide to DHS Statistics, DHS-7, Version 2 [49]. All data management, manipulation, and analyses were carried out using IBM SPSS Version 26 [120].

# 4. Results

Table 1 presents a basic breakdown of the sample by giving frequencies and percentages of each geographic variable's contribution to the sample. Frequencies and prevalence of UIBs across countries, WHO regions, and in fragile versus non-fragile regions are provided as well, along with bivariate analyses of their association with UIBs. The pooled sample was composed of 24 countries from the SSA WHO region and three countries from the South-East Asian WHO region. The final sample size was 380,577 with an overall UIB prevalence of 19.4% (CI = 19.2 - 1000

19.6). The African region provided 181,907 cases (48.5%) to the total sample, while South-East Asia contributed 198,670 cases (51.5%). Fragile regions provided 101,596 cases (27.0%) and non-fragile regions contributed 278,981 cases (73.0%). The prevalence of UIBs ranged from 8.8% in Niger to 55.0% in South Africa. Prevalence of UIBs was 29.9% in Africa and 9.4% in South-East Asia. Fragile regions had an UIB prevalence of 27.0% while in non-fragile regions it was 16.5%. Country, WHO region, and fragility status all had statistically significant bivariate associations with UIBs (p<0.001).

Variables	Sample size and percent of total	Unintended Births	Bivariate Significance	
	n (column %)	n ( row %, 95% Cl)	χ2 (p-value)	
Country (year of DHS)			697.4 (<0.001	
All Countries	380577	72314 (19.4, 19.2 – 19.6)		
African Region				
Angola (2015)	8947 (2.3)	3098 (37.4, 35.2 – 39.6)		
Burundi (2016)	8660 (2.4)	2969 (33.8, 32.6 – 35.0)		
Cameroon (2011)	7631 (2.0)	2129 (26.8, 25.4 - 28.2)		
Democratic Rep. of Congo (2013)	11281 (3.0)	3417 (32.3, 30.1 - 34.6)		
Ethiopia (2016)	7193 (2.0)	1452 (26.6, 24.7 – 28.5)		
Ghana (2014)	4294 (1.1)	1270 (32.9, 30.5 – 35.4)		
Guinea (2018)	5530 (1.5)	934 (16.7, 15.4 - 18.1)		
Cote d'Ivoire (2011)	5418 (1.4)	1443 (26.8, 25.0 – 28.7)		
Kenya (2014)	7167 (1.8)	2668 (40.1, 38.5 - 41.7)		
Lesotho (2014)	2596 (0.7)	1378 (53.5, 51.2 – 55.7)		
Liberia (2013)	5345 (1.3)	1845 (32.6, 30.1 – 35.3)		
Malawi (2016)	13448 (3.6)	5830 (43.4, 42.2 - 44.5)		
Mali (2018)	6368 (1.8)	935 (15.9, 14.5 – 17.5)		
Mozambique (2011)	7623 (2.1)	1505 (16.4, 15.3 – 17.5)		
Namibia (2013)	3967 (1.0)	2102 (53.0, 51.0 – 54.9)		
Niger (2012)	7672 (2.1)	691 (8.8, 8.0 – 9.7)		
Nigeria (2018)	21792 (5.9)	2738 (12.1, 11.5 – 12.9)		
Rwanda (2014)	5953 (1.6)	2362 (39.4, 38.1 - 40.8)		
Senegal (2017)	8468 (2.1)	1648 (21.0, 19.7 – 22.2)		
South Africa (2016)	3036 (0.8)	1720 (55.0, 52.4 – 57.5)		
Zimbabwe (2015)	4833 (1.3)	1734 (35.1, 33.5 – 36.7)		
Uganda (2016)	10263 (2.7)	4571 (44.8, 43.5 – 46.2)		
Tanzania (2015)	7050 (1.9)	2357 (34.0, 32.3 – 35.7)		
Zambia (2018)	7372 (2.0)	2953 (40.7, 39.0 – 42.4)		
South-East Asian Region				
Myanmar (2015)	3867 (1.0)	355 (9.1, 7.9 – 10.4)		
India (2015)	190797 (49.4)	17390 (9.2, 9.0 – 9.4)		
Nepal (2016)	4006 (1.1)	820 (20.0, 18.3 – 21.8)		
WHO Region			9655.1	
African	181907 (48.5)	53749 (29.9, 29.6 – 30.3)	(<0.001)	
South-East Asian	198670 (51.5)	18565 (9.4, 9.2 – 9.6)		
Fue silite .			4774.0	
Fragility			1771.8 (<0.001)	
Non-Fragile	278981 (73.0)	45001 (16.5, 16.3 – 16.8)		
Fragile	101596 (27.0)	27313 (27.0, 26.5 – 27.5) nce intervals are weighted. Bivariate signific		

Table 1: Prevalence of	f unintended births and	l bivariate analvses	across geographic	variables
		a with a face a fairy beb	actions Beographine	

Table 2 shows frequencies and percentages of UIBs across sociodemographic and SRH variables. The highest prevalence of UIBs were observed among women who had the reference birth between the ages of 41-49 years (32.3%), which was followed by 15-20 year olds (25.0%) and 31-40 year olds (22.2%). The lowest prevalence of UIBs was seen in the 21-30 year age category (16.3%). Urban women had an UIB rate of 20.5%, whereas in rural women it was

18.9%. Respondents without health insurance had an UIB prevalence of 19.4%, while those with health insurance had a prevalence of 13.3%. The percentage of UIBs in women who were never married was 63.4%, followed by formerly married women (35.7%) and currently married women (16.7%). Women with a 'higher' level of education had the lowest rate of UIBs (11.0%) while those with a primary education had the highest (28.0%). Women belonging to the 'richest' wealth index quintile had the lowest prevalence of UIBs (17.8%, CI = 17.3 – 18.3). The highest percentage of UIBs was among women in the 'poorer' quintile (19.6%, CI = 19.2 – 20.0), although their 95% CI overlapped with those in the 'poorest' (19.3%, CI = 18.9 – 19.7) and 'middle' (19.2%, CI = 18.8 – 19.7) wealth index quintiles. With respect to occupation, the lowest percentage of reported UIBs were observed among women who were not employed (23.1%), while the highest were observed among women in the armed forces (45.1%). Women who identified as being a member of the Sikh faith had the lowest percentage of UIBs (6.2%), whereas women who were Protestant Christians had the highest (36.9%). Women with no religious affiliation had a rate of 27.7%.

UIB prevalence was the highest among those who first engaged in sexual intercourse at 11 years of age and under (24.1%, CI = 22.4 - 25.9) and between the ages of 12 and 15 (24.1%, CI = 23.7 - 24.5). The lowest UIB percentage was observed in those who first engaged in sexual intercourse at 30 years of age or later (8.4%). Women who only had one sexual partner in their lifetime had a lower prevalence of UIBs (21.6%) than women with two to five partners (34.7%), six to ten partners (35.8%), and 11 or more lifetime partners (27.6%). Women who were married at nine years of age or younger had the lowest prevalence of UIBs (14.0%, CI = 11.4 - 17.1), but this overlapped with the CI observed among those who first married between the ages of 21-30 (15.5%, 95% CI = 15.2 - 15.9) and 31 years and over (16.5%, CI = 15.0 - 18.1). The highest

prevalence of UIB was observed in those who were first married between the ages of 10 to 15 (18.5%, CI = 18.1 - 18.9) and 16 to 20 (18.3%, CI = 18.0 - 18.6). Women who were married for nine years or less had the lowest prevalence of UIBs (14.7%), compared to those married for 20 years or more, who had the highest (30.2%). Prevalence of UIBs increased steadily as parity increased. Respondents who had given birth to two or less children had the lowest prevalence of UIBs (15.0%, CI = 14.7 - 15.2), followed by those with 3-4 previous children (20.3%, CI = 20.0-20.6), 5-8 (29.9%, CI = 29.4 - 30.4), and 9 or more (35.6%, CI = 34.4 - 36.8). Women who had experienced a pregnancy termination (e.g., miscarriage, abortion, stillbirth) at some point prior to the reference birth had an UIB prevalence of 19.4% while those who had not had a pregnancy termination also had an UIB percentage of 19.4%. Women who reported knowing a modern method of contraception had a prevalence of 19.5% while women who did not know a modern method had a prevalence of 16.0%. If the respondent knew a source of FP they had a higher prevalence of UIBs (19.5%) than if the respondent did not know a source of FP (14.6%). Respondents who had knowledge of emergency contraception had a prevalence of 18.5% while it was 18.4% in those without knowledge.

All variables presented in Table 2 had statistically significant (p<0.001) bivariate associations with UIBs with the exception of history of pregnancy termination (p=0.898) and knowledge of emergency contraception (p=0.745). Therefore, these variables were excluded from the multivariate logistic regression models.

Table 2: Prevalence of unintended births and bivariate analyses across sociodemographic, sexual, and reproductive health variables

/ariables Sample size and Unintended Births percent of total		Unintended Births	Bivariate Significance
	n (column %)	n ( row %, 95% CI)	χ2 (p-value)
Respondent's Age			871.1 (<0.001)
15 - 20 years	37701 (10.1)	9826 (25.0, 24.4 – 25.6)	
21 - 30 years	226414 (60.4)	36228 (16.3, 16.1 – 16.6)	
31 - 40 years	99137 (25.1)	20955 (22.2, 21.8 – 22.6)	
41 - 49 years	17325 (4.3)	5305 (32.3, 31.4 – 33.2)	
Urban/Rural			41.9 (<0.001)
Urban	108658 (31.2)	22636 (20.5, 20.0 – 20.9)	
Rural	271919 (68.8)	49678 (18.9, 18.6 – 19.1)	
Respondent covered by health insurance?			382.0 (<0.001)
Yes	38412 (11.2)	5235 (13.3, 12.8 – 13.8)	
No	318205 (88.8)	60270 (19.4, 19.2 – 19.7)	
Current Marriage Status			6772.2
Current Marriage Status			(<0.001)
Never Married	15515 (4.0)	9653 (63.4, 62.4 – 64.4)	
Currently Married	347594 (91.6)	56656 (16.7, 16.5 – 16.9)	
Formerly Married	17468 (4.5)	6005 (35.7, 34.8 – 36.7)	
Education of Respondent			1023.9
None	119243 (30.5)	18181 (15.9, 15.6 – 16.3)	(<0.001)
Primary	96149 (25.2)	26438 (28.0, 27.6 – 28.4)	
Secondary	137622 (36.3)	24677 (18.1, 17.8 – 18.4)	
Higher	27549 (8.1)	3015 (11.0, 10.4 – 11.5)	
Wealth Index Quintile			9.1 (<0.001)
Poorest	79970 (22.7)	14485 (19.3, 18.9 – 19.7)	5.1 (10.001)
Poorer	73191 (21.0)	13629 (19.6, 19.2 – 20.0)	
Middle	65949 (19.9)	12648 (19.2, 18.8 – 19.7)	
Richer	58864 (19.2)	11089 (18.7, 18.2 – 19.2)	
Richest	53160 (17.2)	9338 (17.8, 17.3 – 18.3)	
Occupation			133.6 (<0.001)
Not Working	80474 (37.0)	18247 (23.1, 22.7 – 23.5)	133.0 (<0.001)
Professional/Clerical	47614 (23.4)	12322 (26.2, 25.6 – 26.8)	
Agricultural	66289 (30.1)	19088 (29.3, 28.8 – 29.8)	
Manual/Household Labor	19842 (9.5)	6441 (33.1, 32.2 – 34.0)	
Armed Forces	151 (0.1)	71 (45.1, 34.2 – 56.6)	
Religion			1388.7
Muslim	76460 (21.7)	10881 (14.9, 14.4 – 15.3)	(<0.001)
Catholic	76460 (21.7) 32971 (9.3)	<u> </u>	
Orthodox	2376 (0.8)	591 (27.4, 24.9 – 30.0)	
Protestant	28711 (8.2)	10513 (36.9, 36.1 – 37.8)	
Other Christian	62551 (14.3)	18329 (34.2, 33.6 – 34.9)	
Buddhist	2261 (0.5)	197 (9.4, 6.9 – 12.6)	
Hindu	141750 (42.4)	12965 (9.1, 8.9 – 9.4)	
Sikh	3234 (0.7)	207 (6.2, 5.2 – 7.4)	
Other	4787 (1.0)	887 (19.5, 17.7 – 21.4)	
No Religion	3757 (1.1)	1034 (27.7, 25.6 – 29.9)	
Age when respondent first had sex			431.0 (<0.001)
11 years and under	3857 (1.0)	945 (24.1, 22.4 – 25.9)	+51.0 (<0.001)
12 – 15 years	87737 (24.3)	21190 (24.1, 23.7 – 24.5)	

16 – 19 years	173763 (48.2)	34794 (20.3, 20.0 – 20.5)	
20 – 29 years	98072 (25.8)	12430 (13.2, 12.9 – 13.6)	
30 years and above	2861 (0.6)	206 (8.4, 6.8 – 10.2)	
Lifetime Number of Sexual Partners			784.0 (<0.001
One	131016 (62.6)	27524 (21.6, 21.3 – 22.0)	
2 - 5	73076 (34.9)	25414 (34.7, 34.1 – 35.2)	
6 - 10	3822 (1.8)	1306 (35.8, 33.7 – 37.9)	
11 or more	1719 (0.8)	464 (27.6, 24.9 – 30.5)	
Age when first married			51.5 (<0.001)
9 years and under	1260 (0.4)	169 (14.0, 11.4 – 17.1)	51.5 (\0.001)
10 -15 years	68963 (19.6)	12857 (18.5, 18.1 – 18.9)	
16 – 20 years	193026 (53.7)	34612 (18.3, 18.0 – 18.6)	
21 – 30 years	94687 (25.3)	14080 (15.5, 15.2 – 15.9)	
31 years and over	4254 (1.0)	627 (16.5, 15.0 – 18.1)	
31 years and over	4254 (1.0)	627 (16.5, 15.0 - 18.1)	
Duration of Current Marriage			3977.1
			(<0.001)
9 years or less	218324 (58.2)	31545 (14.7, 14.5 – 14.9)	
10 – 19 years	113836 (29.5)	22018 (20.0, 19.7 – 20.4)	
20 years or more	29965 (7.7)	8776 (30.2, 29.5 - 30.9)	
,			
Number of Unions			6226.4 (<0.001)
One	338465 (89.0)	55317 (16.7, 16.5 – 16.9)	
Two or more	26476 (7.0)	7321 (28.0, 27.3 – 28.8)	
Respondent's Parity			1741.5
2 or less	201956 (54.6)	30256 (15.0, 14.7 – 15.2)	(<0.001)
3 - 4	103549 (26.3)	19959 (20.3, 20.0 – 20.6)	
5-8	65151 (16.5)	18649 (29.9, 29.4 – 30.4)	
		3450 (35.6, 34.4 – 36.8)	
9 or more	9921 (2.6)	3450 (35.0, 34.4 - 30.8)	
History of Pregnancy Termination			0.02 (0.898)
Yes	57218 (15.2)	10813 (19.4, 18.9 – 19.8)	
No	323340 (84.8)	61494 (19.4, 19.1 – 19.6)	
Family Planning Knowledge			33.4 (<0.001)
Knows modern method	260066 (07.4)		33.4 (<0.001)
Does not know modern method	369066 (97.4) 11511 (2.6)	70564 (19.5, 19.2 – 19.7) 1750 (16.0, 15.0 – 17.1)	
	11511 (2.0)	1750 (10.0, 15.0 17.1)	
Respondent knows source of family planning			346.9 (<0.001)
Yes	133424 (65.8)	25958 (19.8, 19.5 – 20.2)	
No	73271 (34.2)	10343 (14.6, 14.1 – 15.0)	
Here Wasselle Jack of Ba			0.11/0.7
Has Knowledge of Emergency Contraception?			0.11 (0.745)
Yes	137804 (38.7)	24821 (18.5, 18.2 – 18.8)	
No	219537 (61.3)	39961 (18.4, 18.2 – 18.7)	

Table 3 shows frequencies and percentages of UIBs across variables regarding aspects of the respondent's partner and interpersonal relationships. Women whose partner was 10-15 years

of age at the reference birth had an UIB prevalence of 21.2% (CI = 16.3 - 27.0); however, this overlapped with those whose partner was 21-30 years old (21.3%, CI = 20.8 - 21.7), 31-40 years old (21.6%, CI = 21.2 - 22.0), 41-50 years old (25.3%, CI = 24.7 - 25.9), and 51 years and over (24.7%, CI = 23.8 - 25.5). The highest prevalence of UIBs, whose CI did not overlap with the other age categories, were seen in women whose partner was 16-20 years old (30.0%, CI = 27.3 -32.7). Women whose partner had no education (16.8%, CI = 16.3 - 17.3) and 'higher' education (17.5%, CI = 16.7 - 18.3) had the lowest prevalence of UIBs as opposed to women whose partner had a primary school education (28.9%, CI = 28.4 - 29.4), which had the highest. Women whose partners were not working had the highest prevalence of UIBs (27.6%, CI = 26.3-29.0), while women whose partners had professional/clerical occupations had the lowest UIB prevalence (21.3%, CI = 20.8 - 21.9), although this CI overlapped with other occupational categories. Respondents who stated they made their own healthcare choices had an UIB rate of 24.3%, whereas women who stated another family member made their healthcare choices for them had an UIB rate of 19.9%. Women who believed that their being beaten was justified if they refused sex from a partner had an UIB prevalence of 27.6% while women who did not believe their being beaten was justified due to the refusal of sex was 26.0%. Lastly, women who had reported ever having sex forced on them by an intimate partner had an UIB prevalence of 37.0% while the prevalence of women who had not had sex forced on them was 22.7%. Bivariate associations between variables in Table 3 and UIBs were all significant at a p-value of less than 0.001, with the exception of believing that being beaten was justified for the refusal of sex, which was significant at a p-value of exactly 0.001.

Variables	Sample size and percent of total	Unintended Births	Bivariate Significance	
	n (column %)	n ( row %, 95% Cl)	χ2 (p-value)	
Partner's age at reference birth			45.9 (<0.001)	
10 – 15 years	303 (0.2)	70 (21.2, 16.3 – 27.0)		
16 – 20 years	1730 (0.9)	528 (30.0, 27.3 – 32.7)		
21 – 30 years	60593 (31.8)	12816 (21.3, 20.8 – 21.7)		
31 – 40 years	77259 (40.5)	16239 (21.6, 21.2 – 22.0)		
41 – 50 years	37019 (19.0)	9075 (25.3, 24.7 – 25.9)		
51 years and over	15382 (7.7)	3678 (24.7, 23.8 – 25.5)		
Partner's Education Level			435.4 (<0.001)	
No education	53945 (27.4)	8792 (16.8, 16.3 – 17.3)		
Primary School	56299 (29.4)	16194 (28.9, 28.4 – 29.4)		
Secondary School	67365 (34.2)	15641 (23.9, 23.4 – 24.4)		
Higher	17001 (9.1)	2984 (17.5, 16.7 – 18.3)		
Partner's Occupation			28.5 (<0.001)	
Not Working	8035 (4.1)	2153 (27.6, 26.3 – 29.0)		
Professional/Clerical	49851 (26.4)	10529 (21.3, 20.8 – 21.9)		
Agricultural	76845 (38.8)	16680 (22.1, 21.7 – 22.6)		
Manual/Household Labor	57681 (30.4)	13543 (24.1, 23.6 – 24.6)		
Armed Forces	572 (0.3)	146 (26.9, 21.3 – 33.2)		
Does the respondent make her own healthcare choices?			245.5 (<0.001)	
Yes	116141 (59.8)	27541 (24.3, 23.9 – 24.7)		
No, other family member decides	76652 (40.2)	15012 (19.9, 19.5 – 20.3)		
Respondent believes her being beaten is justified if she refuses sex			10.8 (=0.001)	
Yes	23143 (22.4)	5978 (27.6, 26.7 – 28.4)		
No	78812 (77.6)	19242 (26.0, 25.6 – 26.5)		
Has a partner ever forced sex on you?			553.7 (<0.001)	
Yes	10168 (10.5)	3688 (37.0, 35.8 – 38.3)		
No	88068 (89.5)	18980 (22.7, 22.3 – 23.2)		

**Notes:** Frequencies are raw counts, whereas percentages and 95% confidence intervals are weighted. Bivariate significance is based on the second-order Rao-Scott adjusted chi-square statistic.

Table 4 contains the results from the logistic regression analyses. In Model 1 country alone was used as a predictor of UIBs to produce baseline unadjusted ORs. Niger was the reference group since the descriptive analysis revealed it to have the lowest prevalence of UIBs. The highest odds of UIBs in Model 1 were seen in South Africa (OR = 12.64, CI = 10.86 - 14.72), Lesotho (OR = 11.90, CI = 10.31 - 13.74), and Namibia (OR = 11.68, OR = 10.19 - 13.37). In

addition to Niger, the lowest odds of UIBs were observed in Myanmar (OR = 1.03, CI = 0.85 - 1.25) and India (OR = 1.05, CI = 0.94 - 1.18).

After controlling for sociodemographic and SRH variables in Model 2, Lesotho's odds for UIBs increased (AOR = 12.15, CI = 9.82 - 15.02), while South Africa's (AOR = 6.69, CI = 10.26) and Namibia's (AOR = 7.02, CI = 5.92 - 8.23) decreased, although these three countries remained with the highest odds for UIBs, in addition to Malawi (AOR = 7.13, CI = 6.25 - 8.14). The countries with the lowest odds of UIBs, with the exception of the Niger, were Nigeria (AOR = 1.24, CI = 1.07 – 1.42), Myanmar (AOR = 1.32, CI = 1.08 – 1.61), and India (AOR = 1.32, CI = 1.15 - 1.51). In Model 2, 15-20 year old women had the highest odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.68, CI = 1.53 - 1.84) as compared to 21-30 year olds. Urban residents had higher odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.19, CI = 1.09 - 1.29) than rural residents. Respondents without health insurance had higher odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.13, CI = 1.03 - 1.25) than those without health insurance. Women who were formerly married had the highest odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.60, CI = 1.48 – 1.73) compared to those who were currently married. Women with a secondary education had the highest odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.41, CI = 1.17 - 1.69) compared to women with 'higher' education, while women with no education had low odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.01, CI = 0.83 – 1.23). Respondents from the middle wealth index quintile had the highest odds (AOR = 1.20, CI = 1.08 - 1.34) compared to the 'richest' group. Women who cited the armed forces as their occupation had the highest odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.90, CI = 1.20 - 3.00) as compared to women who were not employed. Women belonging to no religion and all other religions besides Sikh (reference group) all had AORs with CIs that crossed 1.00, indicating no statistically significant difference in odds of UIBs based on religious membership. Women with 6-10 previous sexual partners had the highest odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.27, CI = 1.06 - 1.52) compared to women with

only one lifetime sexual partner. Women who were first married at 31 years of age or over had the lowest odds of UIBs (AOR = 0.15, CI = 0.07 - 0.37) compared to those first married at nine years of age or younger. Women with nine or more previous children had the highest odds of a subsequent UIB (OR = 5.32, CI = 4.57 - 6.19) compared to a parity of two or less. Women who knew a modern method of FP had higher odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.35, CI = 1.17 - 1.55) than women who did not know a modern method. Lastly, women who knew a source of FP had slightly higher odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.08, CI = 1.00 - 1.17) than women who did not.

After controlling for covariates about the woman's partner and interpersonal relationships in Model 3, several associations revealed in Model 2 were further clarified and some became statistically insignificant. In Model 3, Lesotho remained the country with the highest odds of UIBs (AOR = 11.13, CI = 8.54 - 14.51), whereas Nigeria was the lowest (AOR = 1.11, CI = 0.96 - 1.29). The African region had higher odds of UIBs (AOR = 2.62, CI = 2.09 - 3.29) compared to South-East Asia. Fragile countries had higher odds (AOR = 1.44, CI = 1.30 - 1.59) than non-fragile countries. Women from the 15-20 year old age group still had the highest odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.65, CI = 1.40 - 1.94) compared to 21-30 year olds, with odds continuing to decrease with older age. Urban residents still had higher odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.15, CI = 1.02 - 1001.31) compared to rural residents, although the association became weaker in Model 3. The association between health insurance coverage and odds of UIB became statistically insignificant in Model 3 (p=0.138). Women who were never married had the highest odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.82, CI = 1.61 - 2.05) compared to those currently married, although their CI overlapped with formerly married women (AOR = 1.63, CI = 1.28 - 2.07). Again, women with no education (AOR = 1.32, CI = 0.96 - 1.80) and those with 'higher' education (reference) had the lowest odds of UIBs, whereas those with a primary (AOR = 1.59, CI = 1.18 - 2.16) and secondary (AOR =

1.55, CI = 1.15 - 2.08) educations had higher odds. The association between wealth index quintile and UIBs became statistically insignificant in Model 3 (p=0.091). Likewise, the association between the woman's occupation and odds of UIB became insignificant (p=0.071). While the overall p-value for the association between religion and odds of UIB was significant (p<0.001), each religion's CI as compared to members of the Sikh faith was very wide and included 1.00, meaning individual comparisons between specific religions and the reference group were not statistically significant. Age of sexual initiation became statistically insignificant in Model 3 (p=0.745). Women who had 2-5 lifetime sexual partners were the only group that had a statistically significant difference (AOR = 1.16, CI = 1.04 - 1.30) from the reference group (those with only one sexual partner in lifetime). Again, women who had first married at 31 years of age or older had the lowest odds of UIBs (AOR = 0.22, CI = 0.07 - 0.70) compared to those who had first married at nine years of age or under. Those whose marriage had a duration of 10-19 years had the lowest odds of UIBs (AOR = 0.81, CI = 0.71 - 0.92) compared to those married for nine or less years (reference group) and those married for 20 years or more (AOR = 0.99, CI = 0.80 - 1.22). Respondents with more than one union had lower odds of UIBs (AOR = 0.83, CI = 0.72 - 0.95) compared to those married only once. Again, as parity increased, the odds of UIBs increased steadily (p<0.001), and the magnitude of the AORs were greater in Model 3 than in Model 2 for each category of parity. Women who knew a modern method of FP had higher odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.45, CI = 1.19 - 1.77) compared to those who did not know a modern method. Whether or not respondent knew a source of FP became insignificant in Model 3 (p=0.177).

The woman's partner's age at the reference birth was not significantly associated with increased odds of the woman reporting an UIB (p=0.184). Women whose partner had a secondary school education had higher odds of UIB (AOR = 1.36, CI = 1.20 - 1.55) as compared

to those whose partner had no education. The respondent's partner's occupation was not clearly associated with UIBs since all CIs contained 1.00, with the reference group being men working in professional/clerical jobs. Respondents who reported making their own healthcare choices had lower odds of UIBs (AOR = 0.91, CI = 0.83 - 0.99) compared to women whose healthcare decisions were made by another family member. Respondents holding the belief that being beaten was justified if she refused sex was not associated with UIBs (p=0.658), whereas women who reported ever having sex forced on them by a partner had higher odds of UIBs (AOR = 1.48, CI = 1.36 - 1.60) compared to women who had not had sex forced on them.

Unintended births Variables	Model 1	p-value	Model 2	p-value	Model 3	p- value
	OR (95% CI)		AOR (95% CI)		AOR (95% CI)	
Country		<0.001		<0.001		< 0.001
African Region		10.001		<b>NO.001</b>		10.001
0	6 10 (5 25 7 16)					
Angola (2015)	6.19 (5.35 - 7.16)	-	5.03 (4.24 - 5.97)		4.19 (3.56 - 5.08)	
Burundi (2016)	5.29 (4.68 – 5.99)		4.98 (4.34 - 5.72)		4.54 (3.92 – 5.27)	
Cameroon (2011)	3.79 (3.32 – 4.33)		3.00 (2.59 – 3.47)		2.64 (2.27 – 3.09)	
Dem. Rep. of Congo (2013)	4.95 (4.26 – 5.75)		3.76 (3.19 – 4.44)		3.10 (2.60 – 3.69)	
Ethiopia (2016)	3.75 (3.23 – 4.35)		3.96 (3.40 – 4.62)		3.60 (3.06 – 4.25)	
Ghana (2014)	5.08 (4.35 – 5.95)		4.32 (3.66 – 5.09)		3.71 (3.11 – 4.42)	
Guinea (2018)	2.08 (1.79 – 2.41)		1.98 (1.68 – 2.32)		1.86 (1.58 – 2.20)	
Cote d'Ivoire (2011)	3.80 (3.28 – 4.39)		3.23 (2.74 – 3.81)		2.89 (2.44 – 3.43)	
Kenya (2014)	6.93 (6.09 – 7.89)		5.74 (4.98 – 6.62)		4.97 (4.27 – 5.79)	
Lesotho (2014)	11.90 (10.31 – 13.74)		12.15 (9.82 – 15.02)		11.13 (8.54 – 14.51)	
Liberia (2013)	5.02 (4.27 – 5.90)		4.02 (3.38 - 4.78)		3.36 (2.80 – 4.04)	
Malawi (2016)	7.93 (7.03 – 8.95)		7.13 (6.25 - 8.14)		6.04 (5.25 – 6.96)	
Mali (2018)	1.96 (1.68 – 2.30)		1.87 (1.58 – 2.20)		1.80 (1.51 – 2.13)	
Mozambique (2011)	2.03 (1.77 – 2.33)		1.63 (1.41 – 1.90)		1.34 (1.14 – 1.59)	
Namibia (2013)	11.68 (10.19 – 13.37)		7.02 (5.92 – 8.23)		6.04 (4.98 – 7.34)	
Niger (2012)	Ref		Ref		Ref	
Nigeria (2018)	1.43 (1.26 - 1.63)		1.24 (1.07 – 1.42)		1.11 (0.96 – 1.29)	
Rwanda (2014)	6.75 (5.96 – 6.64)		6.17 (5.36 – 7.10)		5.50 (4.72 – 6.39)	
Senegal (2017)	2.75 (2.40 - 3.14)		2.75 (2.38 – 3.18)		2.67 (2.29 – 3.11)	
South Africa (2016)	12.64 (10.86 – 14.72)		8.29 (6.69 – 10.26)		6.62 (5.89 – 9.85)	
Zimbabwe (2015)	5.61 (4.92 - 6.39)		5.06 (4.37 - 5.85)		4.01 (3.42 – 4.70)	
Uganda (2016)	8.41 (7.43 – 9.51)		6.62 (5.78 – 7.59)		5.66 (4.89 - 6.56)	
Tanzania (2015)	5.34 (4.67 - 6.10)		4.34 (3.75 - 5.03)		3.96 (3.39 – 4.63)	
, ,					4.18 (3.57 – 4.89)	
Zambia (2018)	7.11 (6.23 – 8.11)	-	4.76 (4.11 – 5.51)		4.18 (3.57 – 4.89)	-
South-East Asian Region	4.02 (0.05 4.25)		1 22 (1 00 1 (1)		4.47 (0.04 4.44)	
Myanmar (2015)	1.03 (0.85 – 1.25)		1.32 (1.08 - 1.61)		1.17 (0.94 – 1.44)	
India (2015)	1.05 (0.94 – 1.18)		1.32 (1.15 – 1.51)		1.12 (0.97 – 1.30)	
Nepal (2016)	2.59 (2.22 – 3.02)		3.29 (2.79 – 3.88)		2.73 (2.29 – 3.25)	
WHO Region				<0.001		<0.001
African	-		2.00 (1.67 – 2.40)		2.62 (2.09 – 3.29)	
South-East Asian	-		Ref		Ref	
Fragility				<0.001		<0.001
Non-Fragile	-		Ref	<b>NO.001</b>	Ref	<b>\0.001</b>
Fragile	-		1.26 (1.17 – 1.34)		1.44 (1.30 – 1.59)	
Taglie	_		1.20 (1.17 1.54)		1.44 (1.50 1.55)	
Age at reference birth				< 0.001		< 0.001
15 - 20 years	-		1.68 (1.53 – 1.84)	1	1.65 (1.40 – 1.94)	İ
21 - 30 years	-		Ref		Ref	
31 - 40 years	-	1	0.82 (0.76 – 0.89)		0.81 (0.72 – 0.92)	1
41 - 49 years	-		0.84 (0.73 – 0.97)		0.76 (0.60 – 0.97)	
Link on (Dunal				<0.001		0.020
Urban/Rural			1 10 (1 00 1 20)	<0.001	1 15 (1 02 4 24)	0.028
Urban			1.19 (1.09 – 1.29)		1.15 (1.02 – 1.31)	
Rural	-		Ref		Ref	
Respondent covered				0.011		0.138
by health insurance?						
Yes	-		Ref		Ref	
No	-		1.13 (1.03 – 1.25)		1.10 (0.97 – 1.26)	
Current Marriage Status				< 0.001		< 0.001
-				~0.001	1 92 (1 61 2 05)	~0.001
Never Married	-	L	0.78 (0.08 – 8.12)		1.82 (1.61 – 2.05)	L

Table 4: Bivariate (Model 1) and multivariate logistic regression (Models 2 and 3) results for determinants of
unintended births

Currently Married	_	Ref		Ref	
Formerly Married	-	1.60 (1.48 – 1.73)		1.63 (1.28 – 2.07)	
	-	1.00 (1.48 - 1.73)		1.05 (1.28 - 2.07)	
Education of Respondent			<0.001		<0.001
None	-	1.01 (0.83 – 1.23)	<b>\0.001</b>	1.32 (0.96 – 1.80)	<0.001
Primary	-	1.27(1.05 - 1.54)		1.59 (1.18 – 2.16)	
Secondary	-	1.41 (1.17 – 1.69)		1.55 (1.15 – 2.08)	
Higher	-	Ref		Ref	-
Wealth Index Quintile			0.001		0.091
Poorest	-	1.07 (0.96 – 1.20)		1.20 (0.99 – 1.44)	
Poorer	-	1.19 (1.06 – 1.33)		1.23 (1.02 – 1.48)	
Middle	_	1.20 (1.08 – 1.34)		1.18 (1.00 – 1.40)	
Richer	-	1.09 (0.98 – 1.21)		1.05 (0.88 – 1.24)	
Richest	-	Ref		Ref	
		_			
Occupation			< 0.001		0.071
Not Working	-	Ref		Ref	
Professional/Clerical	-	1.09 (1.00 – 1.19)		1.05 (0.91 – 1.21)	
Agricultural	-	0.92 (0.85 - 0.99)		0.96 (0.86 - 1.08)	
Manual/Household Labor	-	1.01 (0.91 - 1.12)		0.93 (0.79 – 1.10)	
Armed Forces	-	1.90 (1.20 - 3.00)		2.66 (1.33 – 5.29)	
,	-	1.50 (1.20 - 3.00)		2.00 (1.33 - 3.23)	
Religion			<0.001		<0.001
Muslim	_	1.65 (0.35 – 7.80)	10.001	1.65 (0.35 – 7.87)	<b>\0.001</b>
Catholic Christian	_	2.23 (0.47 – 10.55)		2.13 (0.45 – 10.17)	
Orthodox Christian	-	1.01 (0.05 – 22.28)		0.99 (0.04 – 24.33)	
Protestant Christian	-	2.38 (0.50 – 11.25)		2.25 (0.47 – 10.75)	
Other Christian	-	2.53 (0.54 - 11.98)		2.40 (0.50 - 11.49)	
Buddhist	-	0.23 (0.02 - 2.40)		0.23 (0.02 - 2.56)	
Hindu	-	1.52 (0.32 - 7.15)		1.48 (0.31 - 7.02)	
Sikh	_	Ref		Ref	
Other	-	1.74 (0.37 – 8.33)		1.59 (0.33 – 7.71)	
No Religion	-	2.14 (0.45 – 10.19)		2.05 (0.43 – 9.90)	
Age when respondent			0.026		0.745
first had sex					
11 years and under	-	1.07 (0.63 - 1.80)		1.40 (0.61 - 3.18)	
12 – 15 years	-	1.02 (0.63 - 1.66)		1.36 (0.63 - 2.91)	
16 – 19 years	-	1.06 (0.65 - 1.71)		1.40 (0.66 – 2.97)	
20 – 29 years	-	0.92 (0.57 – 1.49)		1.30 (0.61 – 2.76)	
30 years and above	-	Ref		Ref	
Lifetime Number of			< 0.001		0.029
Sexual Partners					
One	-	Ref		Ref	
2 - 5	-	1.21 (1.13 – 1.30)		1.16 (1.04 – 1.30)	
6 - 10	-	1.27 (1.06 – 1.52)		0.95 (0.67 – 1.35)	
11 or more	-	1.12 (0.85 – 1.47)		1.19 (0.79 – 1.78)	
Age when first married			<0.001		0.018
9 years and under	-	Ref		Ref	
10 -15 years	-	0.30 (0.13 – 0.68)		0.34 (0.12 – 0.97)	
16 – 20 years	-	0.31 (0.14 – 0.71)		0.38 (0.13 – 1.08)	
21 – 30 years	-	0.28 (0.12 – 0.64)		0.36 (0.13 – 1.03)	
31 years and over	-	0.15 (0.07 – 0.37)		0.22 (0.07 – 0.70)	
Duration of Current Marriage			<0.001		< 0.001
9 years or less	-	Ref		Ref	
10 – 19 years	-	0.74 (0.68 – 0.81)		0.81 (0.71 – 0.92)	
20 years or more	-	0.79 (0.69 – 0.90)		0.99 (0.80 – 1.22)	

Number of Unions			0.041		0.008
One	-	Ref		Ref	
More than one	-	0.92 (0.85 – 1.00)		0.83 (0.72 – 0.95)	
Respondent's Parity			<0.001		< 0.001
2 or less	-	Ref		Ref	
3 - 4	-	1.79 (1.66 – 1.92)		1.89 (1.69 – 2.11)	
5 - 8	-	3.58 (3.26 – 3.94)		3.80 (3.26 – 4.42)	
9 or more	-	5.32 (4.57 – 6.19)		5.54 (4.37 – 7.03)	
Family Planning Knowledge			<0.001		<0.001
Knows modern method	-	1.35 (1.17 – 1.55)	30.001	1.45 (1.19 – 1.77)	-0.001
Does not know modern method	-	Ref		Ref	
Respondent knows source of			0.044		0.177
family planning					
Yes	-	1.08 (1.00 - 1.17)		1.08 (0.97 – 1.20)	
No	-	Ref		Ref	
Partnor's ago at reference hirth					0.184
Partner's age at reference birth				D-f	0.184
10 – 15 years	-	-		Ref	
16 – 20 years	-	-		2.89 (0.79 – 10.57)	
21 – 30 years	-	-		2.15 (0.62 – 7.53)	
31 – 40 years	-	-		2.14 (0.61 – 7.47)	
41 – 50 years	-	-		1.94 (0.55 – 6.79)	
51 years and over	-	-		2.16 (0.61 – 7.60)	
Partner's Education Level					<0.001
No education	-	_		Ref	
Primary School	-		1	1.11 (1.00 – 1.22)	
Secondary School	-			1.36 (1.20 – 1.55)	
Higher	-	-		1.27 (1.02 – 1.60)	
Partner's Occupation					0.010
Not Working	-	-		0.99 (0.82 – 1.20)	
Professional/Clerical	-	-		Ref	
Agricultural	-	-		0.89 (0.79 – 1.00)	
Manual/Household Labor	-	-		1.05 (0.93 – 1.19)	
Armed Forces	-	-		0.59 (0.34 – 1.02)	
Desethe more adapt make here					0.022
Does the respondent make her own healthcare choices?					0.023
				0.01 (0.92 0.00)	
Yes No, other family member	-	-		0.91 (0.83 – 0.99)	
decides	-	-		Ref	
Respondent states that her					0.658
being beaten is justified if she					
refuses sex				/	
Yes	-	-		0.98 (0.92 – 1.06)	
No	-	-		Ref	
Has your partner ever forced			<u> </u>		<0.001
sex on you?					
Yes	-	-		1.48 (1.36 – 1.60)	
No	-	-		Ref	
The reference group for the outcome					ch sub-
group had the lowest prevalence of u associations were not included in logi		iate tests of independence. Varia	ables that ha	d insignificant bivariate	

## 5. Discussion

Lesotho had the highest odds of UIBs after factoring in all covariates in Model 3, while Niger, Nigeria, Myanmar, and India had the lowest. The African region and fragile regions had significantly higher odds of UIBs compared to South-East Asia and non-fragile regions, respectively. Women who had the reference birth between the ages of 15 and 20 had significantly higher odds of reporting that birth as unintended compared to other ages. Further, the odds of UIBs continued to decrease as age increased. This was consistent with what Sarder et al. [46] found in South-East Asia and with what others found in regional studies [27, 28, 30, 44, 85, 86]. This is in contrast however to some regional studies [12, 40, 42, 81-83] and Ameyaw et al.'s [45] SSA study that found older age groups to have relatively high odds of UIBs. Women who were never married and formerly married (i.e., currently single) had significantly higher odds of UIBs than currently married women, which was consistent with most regional studies that investigated marital status [27, 29-31, 33, 42, 44, 85, 94, 98]. This was in contrast to Ameyaw et al. [45] who found that married women had the highest odds of UIBs. Sarder et al. [46] did not analyze marital status. Women who were married at nine years of age or under had the highest odds of UIBs, while women who were married at 31 years of age or over had the lowest, which was mostly consistent with local studies that observed decreasing odds of UIBs as age at first marriage increased [38,40,96,97]. While the sample size of women in the armed forces was very small, the odds of them having UIBs was significantly higher than all other professions. Age at first marriage and armed forces as an occupation were not investigated in either of the previous multi-country studies [45,46]. One of the strongest associations observed was between respondents' parity and UIBs. Women with two or less births had the lowest odds of a subsequent UIB, while women with 3-4, 5-8, and 9 or more previous births had greater odds

that continued to increase as parity increased. This was consistent with Sarder et al.'s [46] findings in South-East Asia and almost all regional studies [12, 25, 28, 33, 38, 40, 42, 44, 95] that accounted for parity. Women who reported making their own healthcare choices, as opposed to another family member making her healthcare choices for her, had slightly lower odds of UIBs. Notably, having input into one's own healthcare choices has previously been used as a proxy for women's empowerment [121]. Lastly, women who reported ever having sex forced on them by a partner had significantly higher odds of reporting an UIB at some point in time after the IPV event. These variables (ability to make personal healthcare choices and intimate partner rape) were not explored in the previous multi-country studies [45,46].

Several findings were intriguing owing to their somewhat counterintuitive nature. It was surprising to observe the association between health insurance coverage and decreased odds of UIBs observed in Model 2 become insignificant in Model 3 after partner and interpersonal variables were added. This could be due in part to inadequate FP outreach by health plans, and/or women who are not covered by health insurance engaging in FP at lower rates or feeling less empowered to admit to births being unintended. Other researchers are urged to investigate the interplay between health insurance coverage and UIBs. An analysis of several different types of health insurance coverage for associations with UIBs could elucidate an explanation for our statistically insignificant finding and the apparent confounding relationship between insurance status and interpersonal variables. Other interesting findings emerged with respect to educational status and SES. Although there was not statistical significance due to overlapping CIs between subcategories, an intriguing pattern was that women with no education and women with the highest education both had the lowest odds of UIBs. Likewise, women from the poorest wealth quintile and those from the richer and richest quintiles had the lowest odds of UIBs. Previous

regional-level results on education and wealth were highly mixed. Some regional studies showed that women with no education had the highest odds of UIBs [27, 29, 39, 85], while others, like ours, showed that women with no education had low odds [37, 40, 44, 81, 87, 88]. Others found no association between education and UIBs [24-26, 30, 31, 33, 38, 82, 89]. As for wealth, two regional studies, like ours, found that low SES women had lower odds of UIBs [44,94]. However, most found that lower SES predisposes a woman to higher odds of UIBs [12, 31, 39, 41, 91-93]. Our non-monotonic findings (i.e., low/high education and low/high wealth having low odds of UIBs) may indicate that women with higher education and higher wealth are empowered to the point where they have enough input into FP to result in lower odds of UIBs. On the other hand, women with no education and of the poorest wealth quintile may have reported low odds of UIBs due to not having enough influence within relationships to engage in FP decision-making or to admit to a birth being unintended. Also, they may feel that they have few professional and/or academic opportunities and therefore are not incentivized to delay pregnancies [58]. These findings, especially in a multi-country study spanning two world regions, could be further evidence of the widespread influence of women's empowerment, or lack thereof, on the reporting and collection of RMNCH and FP indicators. Another interesting finding was that women who knew a modern method of FP had higher odds of UIBs than those who did not know a modern method. This could be because women who are aware enough to know a modern method of contraception would be more likely to engage in FP and therefore more likely to recognize a birth as unintended. On the other hand, women who do not know a modern method of contraception may be engaging in FP to such a small degree, if at all, that they may not even be viewing births through the lens of them possibly being unintended. Again, findings like this highlight the importance of subsequent studies taking into consideration the

potential disconnect between births that are recognized by the woman as unintended, versus births among women that do not have the willingness, ability, and/or awareness to proactively classify them as unintended when being asked about them in a survey.

The previous multi-country studies [45,46] did not investigate aspects of the woman's partner for associations with UIBs. The few regional studies that did found that women whose partner had no income had higher odds of UIBs [31], women who had younger partners had higher odds of UIBs [12], and women whose partners were more highly educated had lower odds of UIBs [31]. Our study included several variables about respondents' partners and found that women whose husbands had no education had the lowest odds of UIBs. Again, this may be an indication that couples with lower levels of education may not be engaging in FP and therefore may not be considering births in terms of them possibly being unintended. Lastly, it was surprising to see that women that believed their being beaten was justified if they refused sex did not have higher odds of reporting UIBs. This may be due to power differentials in their relationships and their resulting inability to plan births and/or reluctance to classify births as unintended. On the other hand, women who had sex forced on them at some point in the past clearly had higher odds of subsequent UIBs. The seeming disconnect between these last two findings may illustrate an important difference in the likelihood that a woman that holds the belief that IPV is justified has of classifying a birth as unintended, as opposed to the likelihood of a woman classifying a birth as unintended who may not believe IPV is justified, but nonetheless had IPV perpetrated against her. This should be explored further so that the counseling of women with varying perceptions of the acceptability of IPV can be tailored accordingly.

There are several limitations to this project. It was based on cross-sectional surveys with self-reported measures and therefore recall and social desirability biases may be an issue,

especially with a topic as sensitive as classifying one's birth as unintended or intended. DHS datasets were not available for all LMICs and others had to be excluded, so while this study is a step toward elucidating generalizable predictors of UIBs in LMICs, it is not complete since it only accounts for two major world regions. For instance, most DHS surveys from Eastern Mediterranean countries could not be included because they did not interview single women. Being able to assess unmarried women was one of the main inclusion criteria for this analysis since one of the limitations of previous studies were that they only investigated married women [12, 25, 26, 32, 40, 44]. A more detailed investigation of some intriguing findings was not possible due to dataset limitations. For example, an in-depth analysis of the association between different types of health insurance and UIBs could not be done with the current DHS data since they only inquired about health insurance coverage as a general 'yes' or 'no' question. Also, the finding of a high rate of UIBs among women in the armed forces must be interpreted with caution due to their small sample size. Despite these limitations, this study has several strengths. The DHS IPUMS data management tool allowed for standardization and comparability across our large number of nationally representative datasets. DHS surveys are also regularly repeated, so easily harmonized follow-up analyses will be possible. While all LMICs were not able to be included, this project was largely able to represent two of the most expansive, primarily LMI regions in the world. Therefore, this is the first study to investigate determinants of UIBs across not only many countries, but across world regions as well, which can help researchers understand the underlying basic concepts of what leads to UIBs. In addition, several novel variables that have not been previously investigated in multi-country studies, or only studied in a limited manner in regional studies, were included.

In closing, the results indicate that many countries, especially those in SSA, should refocus efforts on SRH and FP due to their having both high rates and high odds of UIBs after controlling for a variety of geographic, sociodemographic, and interpersonal covariates. In particular, governments and donors working in Lesotho, Malawi, Namibia, and South Africa should devote more resources toward FP outreach since these countries had the highest odds of UIBs. Stakeholders are encouraged to pay special attention to the issue of UIBs in fragile settings and SSA since they had higher odds of UIBs than non-fragile regions and South-East Asia, respectively. SRH practitioners are advised, when they do not have context-specific studies from which they can inform their practice, to focus their UIB prevention efforts on:

- Women 20 years of age and younger;
- Women who have never been married and also those divorced (i.e., currently single);
- Women who have been subjected to child marriage at the age of nine or younger;
- Women with high parity, with efforts increasing as parity increases;
- Women who admittedly have their personal healthcare choices made at the discretion of another family member (e.g., partner, parent, or otherwise); and
- Women who reported having had sex forced on them at some point in the past.

Moving beyond these implementation-centric recommendations, researchers should build on this project by studying UIBs while factoring in other world regions and investigating the aforementioned 'counterintuitive' findings. Especially, effort should be put into determining why women with no education, women of the poorest wealth quintile, and women whose partners had no education exhibited relatively low odds of UIBs. The odds of UIBs among women in the armed forces should be investigated with a larger sample size. The potential association between religion and UIBs should be further researched since our results on this issue were not particularly useful due to wide CIs. Religion has been indicated in other works to have an important effect on UIBs [36, 38, 39, 41, 44, 85, 90, 94, 98]. Since several of the associations observed in Model 2 (e.g., health insurance coverage, wealth, occupation, age at sexual initiation, and knowledge of a FP source) lost statistical significance after adding the Model 3 variables, it is recommended that researchers take family dynamic indicators into account in subsequent UIB analyses and elucidate any confounding mechanisms between these categories of variables. Lastly, the DHS program and other surveys are encouraged to not only continue, but also expand upon their collection of indicators regarding family dynamics among women of reproductive age in LMICs. Having more of these variables available for a wider array of countries will allow for more robust intercountry comparisons and pooled analyses, while hopefully shedding light on some of the questions brought forth in this project.

## 6.0 Conclusion

This study was an important first step in elucidating a conceptual understanding of generalizable factors in women's lives that place them at higher risk for UIBs in LMICs. It studied several sociodemographic, SRH, intimate partner, and interpersonal variables that previous multi-country studies and most regional studies did not. This in part clarified previous findings and indicated the importance of considering family dynamic variables since several of the associations seen in Model 2 lost significance after the addition of these variables in Model 3.

The final model indicated that women 20 years of age and younger; women not currently married; women married prior to the age of nine years; women with high parity; women who have their healthcare choices made for them by a family member; and women who had sex forced on them are at clearly defined, higher risk for UIBs. Several findings are also compelling with respect to guiding the direction of future research. Researchers are encouraged to investigate why this study revealed that women of low SES and women with no education had similar odds of UIBs as those of the highest SES and education categories, respectively. It should be determined if the lower odds of UIBs in women of low SES, no education, without knowledge of modern contraceptives, and those whose partners have no education indicate that decreased levels of empowerment lead to a lack of effective FP and/or women feeling unable to classify births as unintended. Lastly, the effect of health insurance on UIBs and UIBs among female military members should be examined in specialized studies.

## 7.0 References

1. Santelli J, Rochat R, Hatfield-Timajchy K, Gilbert BC, Curtis K, Cabral R, et al. The measurement and meaning of unintended pregnancy. Perspect Sex Reprod Health [Internet]. 2003 Mar-Apr [cited 2021 Aug 15];35(2):94-101. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12729139/

2. Alene M, Yismaw L, Berelie Y, Kassie B, Yeshambel R, Assemie MA. Prevalence and determinants of unintended pregnancy in Ethiopia: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. PLoS One [Internet]. 2020 Apr 7 [cited 2021 Aug 17];15(4):e0231012. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32255774/

3. Wado YD, Afework MF, Hindin MJ. Unintended pregnancies and the use of maternal health services in Southwestern Ethiopia. BMC Int Health Hum Rights [Internet]. 2013 Sep 8 [cited 2021 Sep 15];13:36. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24011335/

4. Bearak J, Popinchalk A, Ganatra B, Moller A-B, Tunçalp Ö, Beavin C, et al. Unintended pregnancy and abortion by income, region, and the legal status of abortion: estimates from a comprehensive model for 1990-2019. Lancet Glob Health [Internet]. 2020 Sep [cited 2021 Aug 9];8(9):e1152-e1161. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32710833/

5. Bearak J, Popinchalk A, Alkema L, Sedgh G. Global, regional, and subregional trends in unintended pregnancy and its outcomes from 1990 to 2014: estimates from a Bayesian hierarchical model. Lancet Glob Health [Internet]. 2018 Apr [cited 2021 May 23];6(4):e380-e389. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29519649/

6. Ganatra B, Gerdts C, Rossier C, Johnson Jr BR, Tunçalp Ö, Assifi A, et al. Global, regional, and subregional classification of abortions by safety, 2010-14: estimates from a Bayesian hierarchical model. Lancet [Internet]. 2017 Nov 25 [cited 2021 Jun 5];390(10110):2372-2381. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28964589/

7. Sedgh G, Singh S, Hussain R. Intended and unintended pregnancies worldwide in 2012 and recent trends. Stud Fam Plann [Internet]. 2014 Sep [cited 2021 Jun 5];45(3):301-14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25207494/

8. Tsui AO, McDonald-Mosley R, Burke AE. Family planning and the burden of unintended pregnancies. Epidemiol Rev [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2021 Aug 2];32(1):152-74. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20570955/

9. Engjom HM, Morken N-H, Høydahl E, Norheim OF, Klungsøyr K. Increased risk of peripartum perinatal mortality in unplanned births outside an institution: a retrospective population-based study. Am J Obstet Gynecol [Internet]. 2017 Aug [cited 2021 Aug 2]; 217(2):210.e1-210.e12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28390672/

10. Orr ST, Miller CA, James SA, Babones S. Unintended pregnancy and preterm birth. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol [Internet]. 2000 Oct [cited 2021 Jul 10];14(4):309-13. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11101017/

11. Guterman, K. Unintended pregnancy as a predictor of child maltreatment. Child Abuse Negl [Internet]. 2015 Oct [cited 2021 Aug 9];48:160-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26070372/

12. Mohamed EA-EB, Hamed AF, Yousef FMA, Ahmed EA. Prevalence, determinants, and outcomes of unintended pregnancy in Sohag district, Egypt. J Egypt Public Health Assoc [Internet]. 2019 Mar 13 [cited 2021 Jun 19];94(1):14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32813191/

13. Lyun V, Brittain K, Phillips TK, le Roux S, McIntyre JA, Zerbe A, et al. Prevalence and determinants of unplanned pregnancy in HIV-positive and HIV-negative pregnant women in Cape Town, South Africa: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2018 Apr 3 [cited 2021 Jul 3];8(4):e019979. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29615449/

14. Kikuchi K, Wakasugi N, Poudel KC, Sakisaka K, Jimba M. High rate of unintended pregnancies after knowing of HIV infection among HIV positive women under antiretroviral treatment in Kigali, Rwanda. Biosci Trends [Internet]. 2011 Dec [cited 2021 Aug 9];5(6):255-63. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22281539/

15. Khan MN, Harris ML, Oldmeadow C, Loxton D. Effect of unintended pregnancy on skilled antenatal care uptake in Bangladesh: analysis of national survey data. Arch Public Health [Internet]. 2020 Sep 16 [cited 2021 May 18];78:81. Available from: https://archpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13690-020-00468-1

16. Ranatunga IDJC, Jayaratne K. Proportion of unplanned pregnancies, their determinants and health outcomes of women delivering at a teaching hospital in Sri Lanka. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth [Internet]. 2020 Nov 5 [cited 2021 Jun 17];20:667. Available from: https://bmcpregnancychildbirth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12884-020-03259-2

17. Melese KG, Gebrie MH, Badi MB, Mersha WF. Unintended Pregnancy in Ethiopia: Community Based Cross-Sectional Study. Obstet Gynecol Int [Internet]. 2016 Aug 30 [cited 2021 May 8];2016:4374791. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27656213/

18. Basinga P, Moore AM, Singh S, Remez L, Birungi F, Nyirazinyoye L. Unintended Pregnancy and Induced Abortion in Rwanda [Internet]. Guttmacher Institute; 2013 May [cited 2021 May 27]. Available from: https://www.guttmacher.org/report/unintended-pregnancy-and-induced-abortion-rwanda

19. Mumah J, Kabiru CW, Mukiira C, Brinton J, Mutua M, Izugbara CO, et al. Unintended pregnancies in Kenya: A country profile [Internet]. Population Council; 2014 [cited 2021 May 10]. Available from: https://knowledgecommons.popcouncil.org/departments\_sbsr-rh/271/

20. Rahman MM, Rahman MM, Tareque MI, Ferdos J, Jesmin SS. Maternal pregnancy intention and professional antenatal care utilization in Bangladesh: A nationwide population-based survey. PLoS One [Internet]. 2016 Jun 16 [cited 2021 Aug 24];11(6):e0157760. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27309727/

21. Bearak J, Popinchalk A, Ganatra B, Moller A-B, Tunçalp Ö, Beavin C, et al. Unintended pregnancy and abortion by income, region, and the legal status of abortion: estimates from a comprehensive model for 1990-2019. Lancet Glob Health [Internet]. 2020 Sep [cited 2021 Sep 18];8(9):e1152-e1161. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32710833/

22. Logan C, Holcombe E, Manlove J, Ryan S. The consequences of unintended childbearing: A white paper [Internet]. Bethesda, MD: Child Trends; 2007 May 1 [cited 2021 Jun 8]. Available from: https://www.childtrends.org/publications/the-consequences-of-unintended-childbearing-a-white-paper

23. Sonfield A, Hasstedt K, Kavanaugh ML, Anderson R. The social and economic benefits of women's ability to determine whether and when to have children [Internet]. Guttmacher Institute; 2013 Mar [cited 2021 Jul 15]. Available from: https://www.guttmacher.org/report/social-and-economic-benefits-womens-ability-determine-whether-and-when-have-children

24. Admasu E, Mekonnen A, Setegn T, Abeje G. Level of unintended pregnancy among reproductive age women in Bahir Dar city administration, Northwest Ethiopia. BMC Res Notes [Internet]. 2018 Dec 14 [cited 2021 Jun 5];11(1):891. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30547841/

25. Cheraghi P, Poorolajal J, Moeini B, Cheraghi Z. Predictors of Unintended Pregnancy among Married Women in Hamadan, Western Iran: A Case-Control Study. Iran J Public Health [Internet]. 2013 Aug [cited 2021 Jul 26];42(8):854-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26056639/

26. Erfani A. Levels, trends, and determinants of unintended pregnancy in iran: the role of contraceptive failures. Stud Fam Plann [Internet]. 2013 Sep [cited 2021 Aug 4];44(3):299-317. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24006075/

27. Font-Ribera L, Pérez G, Salvador J, Borrell C. Socioeconomic inequalities in unintended pregnancy and abortion decision. J Urban Health [Internet]. 2008 Jan [cited 2021 Aug 7];85(1):125-35. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18038210/

28. Habib MA, Raynes-Greenow C, Nausheen S, Soofi SB, Sajid M, Bhutta ZA, et al. Prevalence and determinants of unintended pregnancies amongst women attending antenatal clinics in Pakistan. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth [Internet]. 2017 May 30 [cited 2021 May 7];17(1):156. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28558671/

29. Hall JA, Barrett G, Phiri T, Copas A, Malata A, Stephenson J. Prevalence and Determinants of Unintended Pregnancy in Mchinji District, Malawi; Using a Conceptual Hierarchy to Inform Analysis. PLoS One [Internet]. 2016 Oct 31 [cited 2021 Jul 1];11(10):e0165621. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27798710/

30. Ikamari L, Izugbara C, Ochako R. Prevalence and determinants of unintended pregnancy among women in Nairobi, Kenya. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth [Internet]. 2013 Mar 19 [cited 2021 Sep 7];13:69. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23510090/

31. Mbizvo MT, Bonduelle MM, Chadzuka S, Lindmark G, Nystrom L. Unplanned pregnancies in Harare: what are the social and sexual determinants? Soc Sci Med [Internet]. 1997 Sep [cited 2021 Aug 20];45(6):937-42. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9255926/

32. Metwally A, Saleh RM, Abdelhamed AM, Salama S, Mores CW, Shaaban F, et al. Determinants of unintended pregnancy and its impact on the health of women in some governorates of Upper Egypt. JASMR [Internet]. 2015 Jan 1 [cited 2021 Jul 22];10(1):1-8. Available from: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Determinants-of-unintended-pregnancy-and-its-impact-Metwally-Saleh/31092cfcfc136b2d42786ba2ee9d1323fecadc67

33. Napyo, A, Nankabirwa V, Mukunya D, Tumuhamye J, Ndeezi G, Arach AAO, et al. Prevalence and predictors for unintended pregnancy among HIV-infected pregnant women in Lira, Northern Uganda: a cross-sectional study. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2020 Oct 1 [cited 2021 Aug 10];10(1):16319. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33004969/

34. Ma Q, Pan X, Cai G, Yan J, Xu Y, Ono-Kihara M, et al. Unintended pregnancy and its correlates among female attendees of sexually transmitted disease clinics in Eastern China. Biomed Res Int [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2021 Jul 14];2013:349174. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23841063/

35. Seifu CN, Fahey PP, Hailemariam TG, Atlantis E. Association of husbands' education status with unintended pregnancy in their wives in southern Ethiopia: A cross-sectional study. PLoS One [Internet]. 2020 Jul 9 [cited 2021 Aug 12];15(7):e0235675. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32645075/

36. Goshu YA, Yitayew AE. Prevalence and determinant factors of unintended pregnancy among pregnant women attending antenatal clinics of Addis Zemen hospital. PLoS One [Internet]. 2019 Jan 30 [cited 2021 Sep 12];14(1):e0210206. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30699140/

37. Acharya K, Paudel YR, Silwal P. Sexual violence as a predictor of unintended pregnancy among married young women: evidence from the 2016 Nepal demographic and health survey. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth [Internet]. 2019 Jun 7 [cited 2021 Jul 6];19:196. Available from: https://bmcpregnancychildbirth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12884-019-2342-3

38. Adhikari R, Soonthorndhada K, Prasartkul P. Correlates of unintended pregnancy among currently pregnant married women in Nepal. BMC Int Health Hum Rights [Internet]. 2009 Aug 11 [cited 2021 Sep 1];9:17. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19671161/

39. Dixit P, Ram F, Dwivedi LK. Determinants of unwanted pregnancies in India using matched case-control designs. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth [Internet]. 2012 Aug 11 [cited 2021 Jul 2];12:84. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22883933/

40. Islam MM, Rashid M. Determinants of Unintended Pregnancy among Ever-married Women in Bangladesh. J Fam Welf [Internet]. 2004 Jan [cited 2021 Aug 1];50(2):40-7. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/258769750\_Determinants\_of\_Unintended\_Pregnancy\_ among\_Ever-married\_Women\_in\_Bangladesh

41. Kamal M, Islam A. Prevalence and socioeconomic correlates of unintented pregnancy among women in rural Bangladesh. Salud Publica Mex [Internet]. 2011 Mar-Apr [cited 2021 Jun 7];53(2):108-15. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21537801/

42. Magadi MA. Unplanned childbearing in Kenya: the socio-demographic correlates and the extent of repeatability among women. Soc Sci Med [Internet]. 2003 Jan [cited 2021 Aug 10];56(1):167-78. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12435559/

43. Rahman M. Women's autonomy and unintended pregnancy among currently pregnant women in Bangladesh. Matern Child Health J [Internet]. 2012 Aug [cited 2021 Jul 22];16(6):1206-14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21989677/

44. Yaya S, Amouzou A, Uthman OA, Ekholuenetale M, Bishwajit G, Udenigwe O. Prevalence and determinants of terminated and unintended pregnancies among married women: analysis of pooled cross-sectional surveys in Nigeria. BMJ Glob Health [Internet]. 2018 Apr 27 [cited 2021 Jun 1];3(2):e000707. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29713502/

45. Ameyaw EK, Budu E, Sambah F, Baatiema L, Appiah F, Seidu A-A, et al. Prevalence and determinants of unintended pregnancy in sub-Saharan Africa: A multi-country analysis of demographic and health surveys. PLoS One [Internet]. 2019 Aug 9 [cited 2021 Jul 18];14(8): e0220970. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31398240/

46. Sarder A, Islam SMS, Maniruzzaman, Talukder A, Ahammed B. Prevalence of unintended pregnancy and its associated factors: Evidence from six south Asian countries. PLoS One [Internet]. 2021 Feb 1 [cited 2021 Aug 1];16(2):e0245923. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33524018/

47. The DHS Program. Demographic and Health Surveys [Internet]. Rockville, MD: ICF; c2021 [cited 2021 Jan 5]. Available from: https://dhsprogram.com/.

48. Corsi DJ, Neuman M, Finlay JE, Subramanian SV. Demographic and health surveys: a profile. Int J Epidemiol. 2012 Dec;41(6):1602-13.

49. Croft TN, Marshall AMJ, Allen CK, et al. Guide to DHS statistics: DHS-7 (version 2). [Internet] Rockville, MD: ICF; 2020 May [cited 2021 Jan 23]. Available from: https://www.dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/DHSG1/Guide\_to\_DHS\_Statistics\_DHS-7\_v2.pdf.

50. Wirth M, Delamonica E, Sacks E, Balk D, Storeygard A, Minujin A. Monitoring health equity in the MDGs: A practical guide [Internet]. Columbia University: Center for International Earth Science Information Network; 2006 [cited 2021 Aug 23]. Available from: https://www.ciesin.columbia.edu/repository/povmap/analysis/Health\_equity\_Guidelines.pdf

51. Pullum TW. An assessment of the quality of data on health and nutrition in the DHS surveys, 1993-2003 [Internet]. Calverton, Maryland, USA: Macro International; 2008 Dec [cited 2021 Apr 15]. Available from: https://dhsprogram.com/publications/publication-mr6-methodological-reports.cfm

52. Fabic MS, Choi Y, Bird S. A systematic review of Demographic and Health Surveys: data availability and utilization for research. Bull World Health Organ [Internet]. 2012 Aug 1 [cited 2021 May 4]; 90(8):604-12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22893744/

53. Vaessen M. The potential of the demographic and health surveys (DHS) for the evaluation and monitoring of maternal and child health indicators. In Khlat M, editor. Demographic Evaluation of Health Programmes. Paris: CICRED; 1997. p. 65-74.

54. Barth RP, Fetro JV, Leland N, Volkan K. Preventing adolescent pregnancy with social and cognitive skills. J Adolesc Res [Internet]. 1992 Apr [cited 2021 May 5]; 7(2):208-32. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12319159/

55. Boyer D, Fine D. Sexual abuse as a factor in adolescent pregnancy and child maltreatment. Fam Plann Perspect [Internet]. 1992 Jan-Feb [cited 2021 Jul 3]; 24(1):4-11. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1601126/ 56. Casper LM. Does family interaction prevent adolescent pregnancy? Fam Plann Perspect [Internet]. 1990 May-Jun [cited 2021 Jun 22]; 22(3):109-14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/2379567/

57. Christopher FS. Adolescent pregnancy prevention. Fam Relat [Internet]. 1995 Oct [cited 2021 May 25];44(4):384-91. Available from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/584994

58. Edelman MW. Preventing adolescent pregnancy: A role for social work services. Urban Educ [Internet]. 1998 Jan 1 [cited 2021 Jul 16]. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/004208598802200408

59. McCullough M, Scherman A. Adolescent pregnancy: contributing factors and strategies for prevention. Adolescence [Internet]. 1991 [cited 2021 May 22]; 26(104):809-16. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1789168/

60. Campbell JC, Alford P. The dark consequences of marital rape. Am J Nurs [Internet]. 1989 Jul [cited 2021 Jul 17]; 89(7):946-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/2619795/

61. Campbell JC, Pugh LC, Campbell D, Visscher M. The influence of abuse on pregnancy intention. Womens Health Issues [Internet]. 1995 [cited 2021 Aug 18]; 5(4):214-23. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8574118/

62. Zuravin SJ. Unplanned pregnancies, family problems, and child maltreatment. Family Relations [Internet]. 1987 Apr [cited 2021 Jul 5];36(2):135-9. Available from: https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ357717

63. Jones EF, Forrest JD, Henshaw SK, Silverman J, Torres A. Unintended pregnancy, contraceptive practice and family planning services in developed countries. Fam Plann Perspect. 1988;20(2):53-67.

64. Westoff CF. Contraceptive Paths Toward the Reduction of Unintended Pregnancy and Abortion. Fam Plann Perspect. 1988;20(1):4-13.

65. Centers for Disease Control. Selected behaviors that increase risk for HIV infection, other sexually transmitted diseases, and unintended pregnancy among high school students--United States, 1991. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep [Internet]. 1992 Dec 18 [cited 2021 May 15];41(50):945-50. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1461252/

66. Forrest JD. Epidemiology of unintended pregnancy and contraceptive use. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1994;170(5):1485-9.

67. Herold JM, Thompson NJ, Valenzuela MS, Morris L. Unintended pregnancy and sex education in Chile: a behavioural model. J Biosoc Sci. 1994;26(4).

68. Lee PR, Stewart FH. Failing to prevent unintended pregnancy is costly. Am J Public Health. 1995;85(4):479-80.

69. Luker KC. Contraceptive failure and unintended pregnancy. Psychol Rev. 1995;102(2):269-83.

70. Adler NE. Unwanted pregnancy and abortion: Definitional and research issues. J Soc Issues. 1992;48(3):19-35.

71. Brown SS, Eisenberg L. Consequences of unintended pregnancy. In: Brown SS, Eisenberg L, editors. The best intentions: Unintended pregnancy and the well-being of children and families. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 1995.

72. Institute of Medicine. The best intentions: Unintended pregnancy and the well-being of children and families. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 1995.

73. Bustan MN, Coker AL. Maternal attitude toward pregnancy and the risk of neonatal death. Am J Public Health. 1994;84(3):411-4.

74. Finkelhor D, Gelles R, Hotaling G, Straus M. The dark side of families: Current family violence research. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage; 1983.

75. Frieze IH. Investigating the causes and consequences of marital rape. SIGNS. 1983;8(3).

76. Russel DEH. Rape in marriage. New York: MacMillan Publishing Company; 1982.

77. New York University. The marital rape exemption. New York University Law Review. 1977;52(2):306-23.

78. Hall JA, Barrett G, Copas A, Stephenson J. London Measure of Unplanned Pregnancy: Guidance for its use as an outcome measure. Patient Relat Outcome Meas [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2021 Aug 10]; 8: 43–56. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5388237/

79. Yaya S, Ghose B. Prevalence of unmet need for contraception and its association with unwanted pregnancy among married women in Angola. PLoS One [Internet]. 2018 Dec 31 [cited 2021 May 12]; 13(12):e0209801. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30596733/

80. Youssef RM, Moubarak II, Gaffar YA, Atta HY. Correlates of unintended pregnancy in Beheira governorate, Egypt. East Mediterr Health J [Internet]. 2002 Jul-Sep [cited 2021 Jul 1]; 8(4-5):521-36. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15603034/

81. Okonofua FE, Odimegwu C, Ajabor H, Daru PH, Johnson A. Assessing the prevalence and determinants of unwanted pregnancy and induced abortion in Nigeria. Stud Fam Plann [Internet]. 1999 Mar [cited 2021 May 5]; 30(1):67-77. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10216897/

82. Sedgh G, Bankole A, Oye-Adeniran B, Adewole IF, Singh S, Hussain R. Unwanted pregnancy and associated factors among Nigerian women. Int Fam Plan Perspect [Internet]. 2006 Dec [cited 2021 May 1]; 32(4):175-84. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17237014/

83. Le LC, Magnani R, Rice J, Speizer I, Bertrand W. Reassessing the level of unintended pregnancy and its correlates in Vietnam. Stud Fam Plann [Internet]. 2004 Mar [cited 2021 Jul 2]; 35(1):15-26. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15067785/

84. Besculides M, Laraque F. Unintended pregnancy among the urban poor. J Urban Health [Internet]. 2004 Sep [cited 2021 Mar 8]; 81(3): 340–8. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3455954/

85. Tebekaw Y, Aemro B, Teller C. Prevalence and determinants of unintended childbirth in Ethiopia. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth [Internet]. 2014 Sep 18 [cited 2021 Apr 17]; 14:326. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25233950/

86. Faye CM, Speizer IS, Fotso JC, Corroon M, Koumtingue D. Unintended pregnancy: magnitude and correlates in six urban sites in Senegal. Reprod Health [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2021 Jun 12]; 10: 59. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3842735/

87. Dhakal S, Song JS, Shin DE, Lee TH, So AY, Nam EW. Unintended pregnancy and its correlates among currently pregnant women in the Kwango District, Democratic Republic of the Congo. Reprod Health [Internet]. 2016 Jun 16 [cited 2021 Jun 11]; 13(74). Available from: https://reproductive-health-journal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12978-016-0195-z

88. Takahashi S, Tsuchiya KJ, Matsumoto K, Suzuki K, Mori N, Takei N, et al. Psychosocial determinants of mistimed and unwanted pregnancy: the Hamamatsu Birth Cohort (HBC) study. Matern Child Health J [Internet]. 2012 Jul [cited 2021 Aug 2]; 16(5):947-55. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21915677/

89. Habte D, Teklu S, Melese T, Magafu MGMD. Correlates of Unintended Pregnancy in Ethiopia: Results From a National Survey. PLoS One [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2021 Jun 3]; 8(12): e82987. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3857314/

90. Wasswa R, Kabagenyi A, Atuhaire L. Determinants of unintended pregnancies among currently married women in Uganda. J Health Popul Nutr [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2021 Jul 26]; 39: 15. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7722439/

91. Williams LB. Determinants of unintended childbearing among ever-married women in the United States: 1973-1988. Fam Plann Perspect [Internet]. 1991 Sep-Oct [cited 2021 May 6]; 23(5):212-5. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1743273/

92. Henshaw SK. Unintended pregnancy in the United States. Fam Plann Perspect [Internet]. 1998 Jan-Feb [cited 2021 Apr 9]; 30(1):24-9, 46. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9494812/

93. Assefa N, Berhane Y, Worku A. Predictors of Unintended Pregnancy in Kersa, Eastern Ethiopia, 2010. Reprod Health [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2021 Jun 5]; 9(1):1. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/221742615\_Predictors\_of\_Unintended\_Pregnancy\_in\_Kersa\_Eastern\_Ethiopia\_2010

94. Exavery A, Kanté AM, Njozi M, Tani K, Doctor HV, Hingora A, et al. Predictors of mistimed, and unwanted pregnancies among women of childbearing age in Rufiji, Kilombero, and Ulanga districts of Tanzania. Reprod Health [Internet]. 2014 Aug 8 [cited 2021 May 27]; 11(63). Available from: https://reproductive-health-journal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1742-4755-11-63

95. National Institute of Population Studies. Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey 2012-13 [Internet]. Islamabad, Pakistan; Calverton, MD: Macro International; 2013 [cited 2021 May 5]. Available from: https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/fr290/fr290.pdf

96. Mason KO, Taj AM. Differences between women's and men's reproductive goals in developing countries. Popul Dev Rev. 1987;13(4):611-38.

97. Iranfar S, Iranfar K, Ranjbar M. Is there any relationship between neonatal babies weight and unintended pregnancy? Pak J Med Sci [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2021 Apr 8]; 25(5). Available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/236162723\_Is\_there\_any\_relationship\_between\_neona tal\_babies\_weight\_and\_unintended\_pregnancy

98. Eliason S, Baiden F, Yankey BA, Awusabo-Asare K. Determinants of unintended pregnancies in rural Ghana. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth [Internet]. 2014 Aug 8 [cited 2021 Jun 27]; 14:261. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25104039/

99. Mohammed F, Musa A, Amano A. Prevalence and determinants of unintended pregnancy among pregnant woman attending ANC at Gelemso General Hospital, Oromiya Region, East Ethiopia: a facility based cross-sectional study. BMC Women's Health [Internet]. 2016 Aug 17 [cited 2021 Jul 13]; 16:56. Available from:

https://bmcwomenshealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12905-016-0335-1

100. Weldegebreal R, Melaku YA, Alemayehu M, Gebrehiwot TG. Unintended pregnancy among female sex workers in Mekelle city, northern Ethiopia: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2015 Jan 31 [cited 2021 Aug 1]; 15:40. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25636515/

101. Lamina MA. Prevalence and Determinants of Unintended Pregnancy Among Women in South-Western Nigeria. Ghana Med J [Internet]. 2015 Sep [cited 2021 Jul 6]; 49(3):187-94. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26693195/

102. Tsegaye AT, Mengistu M, Shimeka A. Prevalence of unintended pregnancy and associated factors among married women in west Belessa Woreda, Northwest Ethiopia, 2016. Reprod Health [Internet]. 2018 Dec 7 [cited 2021 Aug 16]; 15(1):201. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30526615/

103. The DHS Program. Demographic and Health Surveys [Internet]. Rockville, MD: ICF; c2021 [cited 2021 Feb 5]. Available from: https://dhsprogram.com/.

104. Chol C, Negin J, Agho KE, Cumming RG. Women's autonomy and utilisation of maternal healthcare services in 31 Sub-Saharan African countries: results from the demographic and health surveys, 2010-2016. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2019 Mar 13 [cited 2021 Jul 10]; 9(3):e023128. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30867200/

105. Darteh EKM, Dickson KS, Doku DT. Women's reproductive health decision-making: A multi-country analysis of demographic and health surveys in sub-Saharan Africa. PLoS One [Internet]. 2019 Jan 9 [cited 2021 May 3]; 14(1):e0209985. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30625212/

106. Mejía-Guevara I, Zuo W, Bendavid E, Li N, Tuljapurkar S. Age distribution, trends, and forecasts of under-5 mortality in 31 sub-Saharan African countries: A modeling study. PLoS Med [Internet]. 2019 Mar 12 [cited 2021 Jun 27]; 16(3):e1002757. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30861006/

107. Boyle EH, King M, Sobek M. IPUMS demographic and health surveys. Version 8 [dataset]. Minneapolis, MN: IPUMS and ICF; c2020. [cited 2020 Aug 10]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.18128/D080.V8.

108. IPUMS Global Health. Harmonized international survey data on maternal, child, and reproductive health, Version 8 [Internet]. University of Minnesota; c2021 [cited 2021 Apr 8]. Available from: https://globalhealth.ipums.org/

109. Koning SM, Scott K, Conway JH, Palta M. Reproductive health at conflict borders: a crosssectional survey of human rights violations and perinatal outcomes at the Thai-Myanmar border. Confl Health [Internet]. 2021 Mar 10 [cited 2021 May 18]; 15(15). Available from: https://conflictandhealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13031-021-00347-8

110. Petchesky RP. Conflict and crisis settings: promoting sexual and reproductive rights. Reprod Health Matters [Internet]. 2008 May [cited 2021 Apr 5]; 16(31):4-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18513602/

111. Pillai V, Wang Y-C, Maleku A. Women, war, and reproductive health in developing countries. Soc Work Health Care [Internet]. 2017 Jan [cited 2021 Mar 19]; 56(1):28-44. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27754779/

112. Farwell N. War rape: New conceptualizations and responses. Affilia [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2021 Jul 22]; 19(4):389-403. Available from: https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.525.3084&rep=rep1&type=pdf

113. Meger S. Rape of the Congo: Understanding sexual violence in the conflict in the Democratic Republic of Congo. J Contemp Afr Stud [Internet]. 2010 May 20 [cited 2021 Jun 1]; 28(2). Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/02589001003736728

114. Virginie S, Yasmin H, Sally B. Assessing the impact of mass rape on the incidence of HIV in conflict-affected countries. AIDS [Internet]. 2010 Nov 27 [cited 2021 Apr 5]; 24(18): 2841–2847. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2978669/

115. Swiss S, Jennings PJ, Aryee GV, Brown GH, Jappah-Samukai RM, Kamara MS, et al. Violence against women during the Liberian civil conflict. JAMA [Internet]. 1998 Feb 25 [cited 2021 Mar 23]; 279(8):625-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9486762/

116. The World Bank Group. Classification of fragile and conflict-affected situations [Internet]. World Bank Group; c2021 [cited 2021 Feb 15]. Available from: https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/fragilityconflictviolence/brief/harmonized-list-of-fragile-situations.

117. The World Bank Group. CPIA criteria 2017 [Internet]. World Bank Group; 2017 Sep 1 [cited 2021 Feb 15]. Available from: http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/203511467141304327/CPIA-Criteria-2017v2.pdf.

118. ACLED. The armed conflict location & event data project [Internet]. ACLED; c2021 [cited 2021 Feb 15]. Available from: https://acleddata.com/#/dashboard.

119. UCDP. Uppsala conflict data program: department of peace and conflict research [Internet]. Uppsala, Sweden: Uppsala University; c2021 [cited 2021 Feb 15]. Available from: https://ucdp.uu.se/exploratory.

120. IBM. IBM SPSS software [Internet]. IBM; c2021 [cited 2021 Feb 1]. Available from: https://www.ibm.com/analytics/spss-statistics-software.

121. Upadhyay UD, Gipson JD, Withers M, Lewis S, Ciaraldi EJ, Fraser A, et al. Women's empowerment and fertility: a review of the literature. Soc Sci Med [Internet]. 2014 Aug [cited 2021 Sep 2]; 115:111-20. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24955875/